Eder, Schlögl (Eds.) Nanocarbon-Inorganic Hybrids

## **Also of Interest**



Chemical Energy Storage Robert Schlögl (Ed.), 2012 ISBN 978-3-11-026407-4, e-ISBN 978-3-11-026632-0



Functional Materials For Energy, Sustainable Development and Biomedical Sciences Mario Leclerc, Robert Gauvin (Eds.), 2014 ISBN 978-3-11-030781-8, e-ISBN 978-3-11-030782-5



Organic and Hybrid Solar Cells An Introduction Lukas Schmidt-Mende, Jonas Weickert, 2015 ISBN 978-3-11-028318-1, e-ISBN 978-3-11-028320-4



Complex Oxides Materials Physics, Synthesis, Characterization and Applications Jan Seidel, 2015 ISBN 978-3-11-030424-4, e-ISBN 978-3-11-030425-1



Green The International Journal of Sustainable Energy Conversion and Storage Robert Schlögl (Editor-in-Chief) ISSN 1869-8778

# Nanocarbon-Inorganic Hybrids

Next Generation Composites for Sustainable Energy Applications

Edited by Dominik Eder and Robert Schlögl

**DE GRUYTER** 

#### Editors

Prof. Dominik Eder Westfälische Wilhelms University Department of Physical Chemistry Correnstr. 28/30 48149 Münster Germany

Prof. Robert Schlögl Fritz Haber Institute of the Max Planck Society Department of Inorganic Chemistry Faradayweg 4–6 14195 Berlin Germany

ISBN 978-3-11-026971-0 e-ISBN 978-3-11-026986-4 Set-ISBN 978-3-11-026987-1

#### Library of Congress Cataloging-in-Publication Data

A CIP catalog record for this book has been applied for at the Library of Congress.

#### Bibliographic information published by the Deutsche Nationalbibliothek

The Deutsche Nationalbibliothek lists this publication in the Deutsche Nationalbibliografie; detailed bibliographic data are available in the Internet at http://dnb.dnb.de.

© 2014 Walter de Gruyter GmbH, Berlin/Boston Cover image: Simone Brandt/gettyimages/creative Typesetting: PTP-Berlin, Protago-T<sub>E</sub>X-Production GmbH, Berlin Printing and binding: Hubert & Co. GmbH & Co. KG, Göttingen ©Printed on acid-free paper Printed in Germany

www.degruyter.com

## Preface

Today's world is facing major challenges that directly affect our modern life. The demand for energy is expected to double by the year 2050. As a consequence of increased energy utilization the need is growing to protect our environment from the adverse effects of pollution and the destruction of natural habitats. To ensure sufficient supply of clean water and air and to nourish the growing population without conflicts and poverty are additional global challenges. In this arena, the transformation of the fossil energy system into a sustainable operation and the technical increase of energy efficiency are key objectives of chemical sciences with their ability to create novel fuels, materials and processes of molecular transformations. Using the energy of sunlight to split water into hydrogen as a clean energy source and storing energy in batteries and supercapacitors are two popular examples of energy science. Both challenges critically involve the availability of novel carbon materials. Carbon is the most versatile chemical element for designing molecules and materials. It enables us to address a wide range of functional characteristics by varying the assembly of only one type of atoms interacting with each other in essentially only two binding modes, i.e. sp<sup>2</sup>/sp<sup>3</sup> hybridization.

The unlimited number of combinations of the two basic bonding motives allows the realization of molecular and supra-molecular properties limited only by our imagination. Hetero-atomic additions to the carbon backbone give additional chemical and structural diversity that needs exploitation in interface-controlled material science applications. The interplay between combining building blocks of carbon and decorating the products with hetero-elements forms the basis of a knowledge-based carbon material science. A critical strategy of material design is to combine carbon with other materials with diverging properties into spatial arrangements that create synergistic functions. Such materials, known as composites, were developed for carbon-based systems with the maturation of polymer science and are implemented today in numerous products ranging from materials for packaging, dental and medical use, energy production and storage, to structural materials for lightweight applications.

*Nanocarbon composites* are multiphase materials, in which a nanostructured *filler* (*i.e.* particles, whiskers, fibers, nanotubes or lamellae) is dispersed in an organic (*i.e.* polymer) or inorganic (*i.e.* carbon, ceramic or metal) *matrix*. In the last few years, carbon in the form of nanotubes (CNTs) in addition to nanostructured fibers or as graphene has attracted wide interest as a filler for nanocomposites. Typical application profiles are a high electrical conductivity in transparent conducting polymers or a remarkable fracture toughness reinforcing ceramics such as hydroxyapatite for bone replacement. Nanocomposites have a considerable impact on large-scale industrial applications of lightweight structural materials in aerospace and e-mobility, of electrically conducting plastics for electronic applications or as packaging materials with reduced gas permeability for foodstuff and air-sensitive goods.

*Nanocarbon hybrids* are a new class of composite materials in which the carbon nanostructures are compounded with thin layers of metals, semiconductors, inorganic glasses or ceramics. The carbon component gives ready access for gases and fluids to a large fraction of the inner surface area of the inorganic compound. In addition, a large interface between two materials with different bulk properties allows for the design of materials with interface-dominated properties. Their special appeal arises from charge and energy transfer through this interface, giving rise to transport properties different from the linear combination of the respective bulk properties. Although still at an early stage of research, such hybrid materials have demonstrated potential in applications concerning energy conversion and environmental protection. These include improved sensitivities in bio/chemical sensors, increased energy densities in batteries and larger capacities in supercapacitors, higher currents in field emission devices, more efficient charge separation and thus superior activities in photocatalysts and improved efficiencies in photovoltaics.

This book is dedicated exclusively to the family of nanocarbon hybrids covering a multidisciplinary research field that combines materials chemistry and physics with nanotechnology and applied energy sciences. It provides both introductory material on fundamental principles as well as reviews of the current research. Therefore, this book should be helpful for Master and PhD students wishing to become familiar with a modern field of knowledge-driven material science as well as for senior researchers and industrial staff scientists who explore the frontiers of knowledge.

The **first part of this book** introduces the concept of nanocarbons as building blocks. It establishes a scientific foundation for their subsequent use in hybrids and composites. *Chapter 1* provides a concise introduction into the world of carbon nanotubes (CNTs), explaining their unique structural characteristics, synthesis routes and key characterization techniques. It summarizes the profile of exceptional properties of CNT. *Chapter 2* concentrates on the synthesis and characterization of graphene-based materials, including single-layer and few-layer graphene as well as graphene oxide and its chemically/thermally reduced counterpart. The chapter further demonstrates that the dispersion of nanocarbons remains a key challenge for their implementation into hybrids. Chapters 3 and 4 are dedicated to the post-synthesis processing of nanocarbons. In particular, *Chapter 3* focuses on the chemical functionalization of CNTs, providing examples for a whole range of covalent and noncovalent functionalization routes. *Chapter 4* offers a comprehensive review on doping and filling of CNTs and the effect of defects on the hybridization of CNTs with polymers.

The **second part of this book**, comprising Chapters 5 to 10, is dedicated to the synthesis of nanocarbon hybrids and composites. *Chapter 5* begins by identifying the general synthesis routes towards nanocarbon hybrids, which can be categorized into *ex situ (i.e. "building block")* and *in situ* approaches, and comparing their advantages and disadvantages on the basis of some of the most intriguing recent results. In general, the *ex situ* route is a two-step process in which the inorganic compound is synthesized first, taking advantage of the existing wealth of knowledge in synthesizing nano-

materials (*i.e.* structure-property relationship). In a second step, the inorganic compound is linked to the nanocarbon surface via covalent, noncovalent or electrostatic interactions. In the *in situ* approach the inorganic or polymeric compound is grown on the (modified) nanocarbon surface from molecular precursors via (electro)chemical, vapor-based or physical deposition techniques, exploiting the stabilizing effects of nanocarbon as templates and as local heat sinks.

The examples discussed in *Chapter 5* cover a wide range of synthetic aspects, yet concentrate on hybrids involving CNTs, while *Chapter 6* summarizes recent developments on the hybridization of graphene-based materials. *Chapter 7* on the other hand introduces sustainable carbon materials made from hydrothermal carbonization (HTC) as promising candidates for hybrid materials. *Chapter 8* then combines nanocarbons with polymers and documents that engineering the interfaces is a challenge that is equally important in the synthesis of nanocarbon hybrids and of carbon composites. The book section is concluded by *Chapters 9 and 10*, which are dedicated to specific examples of hybrids. Chapter 9 describes hybrids whose components are all carbon based, such as CNTs hybridized with graphene, while Chapter 10 discusses the incorporation of graphene oxide into metal-organic framework structures (MOFs).

The **third part of the book** highlights the potential of nanocarbon hybrids for various important applications, particularly concerning environmental and sustainable energy applications. These include electrode materials in batteries and electrochemical capacitors (*Chapters 11 and 12*), sensors and emitters in field emission devices (*Chapter 13*), electrocatalysts in fuel cells (*Chapter 14*), supports for heterogeneous catalysts (*Chapter 15*), next-generation photocatalysts (*Chapter 16*), as well as active compounds in electrochromic and photovoltaic applications (*Chapters 17 and 18*). All these chapters discuss the benefits of nanocarbon hybrids in the respective application, identify major challenges and critically review the present state of research with the most intriguing recent developments. Finally, *Chapter 19* elaborates on the importance of defects and edge atoms in graphene-based hybrid materials.

This book illustrates that nanocarbon hybrid materials are an exciting new class of multi-purpose composites with great potential to become the next-generation energy materials. The synergistic effects in nanocarbon hybrids are manifold and it is clear that a detailed fundamental understanding of their origins will be essential to exploit the options given by combining classes of materials with diverging properties.

We foremost express our deepest thanks to our colleagues who spent considerable time and effort in writing the chapters in this book. We hope that this book will be useful to those interested in the subject of nanocarbon hybrids from many different perspectives and that it will establish a sound foundation for future research. We further would like to thank Julia Lauterbach and Karin Sora of De Gruyter Publishers for their tireless support and guidance. It is a particular pleasure to acknowledge the students of the Münster group for their invaluable help in proof-reading.

Dominik Eder and Robert Schlögl

June 2014

## Contents

Preface — v

```
Contributing authors — xvii
```

## Part I: Nanocarbon building blocks

Paul Gebhardt and Dominik Eder

1	A short introduction on carbon nanotubes 3
1.1	Introduction — 3
1.2	Structural aspects — 4
1.2.1	Chirality — 4
1.2.2	Defects — 5
1.2.3	Doping — 6
1.3	Properties of CNTs — 7
1.3.1	Mechanical properties — 7
1.3.2	Electronic properties — 8
1.3.3	Thermal properties — 9
1.4	Characterization — 10
1.5	Synthesis — 11
1.5.1	Laser ablation — 12
1.5.2	Arc discharge — 12
1.5.3	Molten salt route / electrolytic process — 13
1.5.4	Chemical vapor deposition (CVD) — 13
1.6	Post-synthesis treatments — 14
1.6.1	Purification — 14
1.6.2	Separation of metallic and semiconducting CNTs — 15
1.6.3	Functionalization — 16
1.6.4	Assembly — 18
1.7	Summary — 18

Keith Paton

2	Synthesis, characterisation and properties of graphene 25
2.1	Introduction — 25
2.2	Properties — 25
2.3	Synthesis — 26
2.3.1	Micromechanical cleavage — 26
2.3.2	Liquid phase exfoliation — 27

- 2.3.3 Precipitation from metals/CVD 30
- 2.3.4 Epitaxial growth from SiC 31
- 2.4 Characterization 32

**x** — Contents

#### Michele Melchionna and Maurizio Prato

- 3 Functionalization of carbon nanotubes 43
- 3.1 Introduction 43
- 3.2 Functionalization. Why? 44
- 3.3 Types of functionalization 46
- 3.3.1 Covalent functionalization 46
- 3.3.2 Noncovalent functionalization 54
- 3.4 Functionalization with metals 61
- 3.5 Summary 65

S.M. Vega-Diaz, F. Tristán López, A. Morelos-Gómez, R. Cruz-Silva, and M. Terrones

4 The importance of defects and dopants within carbon nanomaterials during the fabrication of polymer composites — 71

- 4.1 Introduction 71
- 4.1.1 Carbon nanostructures and their properties 72
- 4.1.2 Doped carbon nanostructures 74
- 4.1.3 Defects in carbon nanostructures 76
- 4.1.4 Functionalization of carbon nanostructures for nanocomposites 79
- 4.2 Incorporation of nanocarbons into polymer composites and hybrids 83
- 4.2.1 Types of polymer composites 83
- 4.2.2 Synthesis approaches 86
- 4.3 Properties 89
- 4.3.1 Mechanical properties 89
- 4.3.2 Thermal properties 93
- 4.3.3 Electrical properties 95
- 4.3.4 Optical properties 97
- 4.3.5 Biocompatibility 98
- 4.3.6 Biodegradation 99
- 4.3.7 Permeability 102
- 4.4 Summary 104

## Part II: Synthesis and characterisation of hybrids

Cameron J. Shearer and Dominik Eder

- 5 Synthesis strategies of nanocarbon hybrids 125
- 5.1 Introduction 125
- 5.2 Ex situ approaches 127
- 5.2.1 Covalent interactions 127
- 5.2.2 Noncovalent interactions 129
- 5.3 In situ approaches 134
- 5.3.1 In situ polymerization 135

- 5.3.2 Inorganic hybridization from metal salts 137
- 5.3.3 Electrochemical processes 142
- 5.3.4 Sol-gel processes 146
- 5.3.5 Gas phase deposition 148
- 5.4 Other nanocarbons 152
- 5.5 Comparison of synthesis techniques 153
- 5.6 Summary 154

C.N.R. Rao, H.S.S. Ramakrishna Matte, and Urmimala Maitra

- 6 Graphene and its hybrids with inorganic nanoparticles, polymers and other materials 171
- 6.1 Introduction 171
- 6.2 Synthesis 172
- 6.3 Nanocarbon (graphene/C<sub>60</sub>/SWNT) hybrids 175
- 6.4 Graphene-polymer composites 178
- 6.5 Functionalization of graphene and related aspects 182
- 6.6 Graphene-inorganic nanoparticle hybrids 185
- 6.7 Graphene hybrids with SnO<sub>2</sub>, MoS<sub>2</sub> and WS<sub>2</sub> as anodes in batteries **189**
- 6.8 Graphene-MOF hybrids 192
- 6.9 Summary 195

Markus Antonietti, Li Zhao, and Maria-Magdalena Titirici

- 7 Sustainable carbon hybrid materials made by hydrothermal carbonization and their use in energy applications 201
- 7.1 Introduction 201
- 7.2 Hydrothermal synthesis of carbonaceous materials 202
- 7.2.1 From pure carbohydrates 202
- 7.2.2 From complex biomass 209
- 7.2.3 Energy applications of hydrothermal carbons and their hybrids 210
- 7.3 Summary 221

#### Juan J. Vilatela

#### 8 Nanocarbon-based composites — 227

- 8.1 Introduction 227
- 8.2 Integration routes: From filler to other more complex
- structures 228
- 8.2.1 Filler route 229
- 8.2.2 Evaluation of reinforcement 230
- 8.2.3 Other properties 232
- 8.3 Hierarchical route 235
- 8.3.1 Structure and improvement in properties 236
- 8.3.2 Other properties 238

- 8.4 Fiber route 240
- 8.4.1 Different assembly routes 241
- 8.4.2 Assembly properties and structure 243
- 8.4.3 Assembly composites 245
- 8.4.4 Other properties of nanocarbon assemblies 248
- 8.5 Summary 248

Robert Schlögl

- 9 Carbon-Carbon Composites 255
- 9.1 Introduction 255
- 9.2 Typology of C3 materials 256
- 9.3 Synthesis 259
- 9.4 Identification of the structural features of C3 material 264
- 9.5 Surface chemistry 266
- 9.6 Summary 268

Teresa J. Bandosz

- 10 Graphite oxide-MOF hybrid materials ---- 273
- 10.1 Introduction 273
- 10.2 Building blocks 274
- 10.2.1 Graphite oxide 274
- 10.2.2 Metal Organic Frameworks: MOF-5, HKUST-1 and MIL-100(Fe) 275
- 10.3 Building the hybrid materials: Surface texture and chemistry 276
- 10.4 MOF-Graphite oxides composites as adsorbents of toxic gases 281
- 10.4.1 Ammonia 282
- 10.4.2 Nitrogen dioxide 284
- 10.4.3 Hydrogen sulfide 286
- 10.5 Beyond the MOF-Graphite oxides composites 288
- 10.6 Summary 289

## Part III: Applications of nanocarbon hybrids

#### Dang Sheng Su

- 11 Batteries/Supercapacitors: Hybrids with CNTs ---- 297
- 11.1 Introduction 297
- 11.2 Application of hybrids with CNTs for batteries 298
- 11.2.1 Lithium ion battery 298
- 11.2.2 Lithium sulfur battery 307
- 11.2.3 Lithium air battery 308
- 11.3 Application of hybrids with CNTs in supercapacitor 310
- 11.3.1 CNT-based carbon hybrid for supercapacitors 311
- 11.3.2 CNT-based inorganic hybrid for supercapacitors 313
- 11.4 Summary 314

#### Zhong-Shuai Wu, Xinliang Feng, and Klaus Müllen

- 12 Graphene-metal oxide hybrids for lithium ion batteries and electrochemical capacitors 319
- 12.1 Introduction 319
- 12.2 Graphene for LIBs and ECs 320
- 12.3 Graphene-metal oxide hybrids in LIBs and ECs 321
- 12.3.1 Typical structural models of graphene-metal oxide hybrids 321
- 12.3.2 Anchored model 323
- 12.3.3 Encapsulated model 327
- 12.3.4 Sandwich-like model 330
- 12.3.5 Layered model **332**
- 12.3.6 Mixed models 335
- 12.4 Summary **336**
- John Robertson
- 13 Nanocarbons for field emission devices 341
- 13.1 Introduction 341
- 13.2 Carbon nanotubes general considerations 343
- 13.2.1 Field emission from nanocarbons 346
- 13.2.2 Emission from nanowalls and CNTs walls 346
- 13.3 Applications 347
- 13.3.1 Field emission electron guns for electron microscopes 347
- 13.3.2 Displays 348
- 13.3.3 Microtriodes and E-beam lithography 349
- 13.3.4 Microwave power amplifiers 351
- 13.3.5 Ionization gauges 352
- 13.3.6 Pulsed X-ray sources and tomography 352
- 13.4 Summary 353

Panagiotis Trogadas and Peter Strasser

14	Carbon, carbon hybrids and composites for polymer electrolyte
	fuel cells — 357

- 14.1 Introduction 357
- 14.2 Carbon as electrode and electrocatalyst 357
- 14.2.1 Structure and properties 357
- 14.2.2 Electrochemical properties 360
- 14.2.3 Applications **362**
- 14.3 Carbon, carbon hybrids and carbon composites in PEFCs 368
- 14.3.1 Carbon as structural component in PEFCs 368
- 14.3.2 Carbon as PEFC catalyst support ---- 369
- 14.3.3 Carbon hybrids and composites as ORR electrocatalysts 379
- 14.4 Summary **385**

Domiousin Frank

Benjam	in Frank	
15	Nanocarbon materials for heterogeneous catalysis — 393	
15.1	Introduction — 393	
15.2	Relevant properties of nanocarbons — 394	
15.2.1	Textural properties and macroscopic shaping — 394	
15.2.2	Surface chemistry and functionalization — 397	
15.2.3	Confinement effect — 400	
15.3	Nanocarbon-based catalysts — 401	
15.3.1	Dehydrogenation of Hydrocarbons — 402	
15.3.2	Dehydrogenations of alcohols — 407	
15.3.3	Other reactions — 410	
15.4	Nanocarbon as catalyst support —— 412	
15.4.1	Catalyst preparation strategies — 412	
15.4.2	Applications in heterogeneous catalysis — 416	
15.5	Summary — 422	
Gabriel	e Centi and Siglinda Perathoner	
16	Advanced photocatalytic materials by nanocarbon hybrid	
	materials —— 429	
16.1	Introduction —— 429	
16.1.1	Hybrid vs. composite nanomaterials — 430	
16.1.2	Use of nanocarbon hybrid materials in photoreactions — 432	
16.2	Nanocarbon characteristics — 433	
16.2.1	The role of defects — 435	
16.2.2	Modification of nanocarbons — 437	
16.2.3	New aspects — 437	
16.2.4	Nanocarbon quantum dots — 438	
16.3	Mechanisms of nanocarbon promotion in photoactivated	
	processes — 440	
16.4	Advantages of nanocarbon-semiconductor hybrid materials — 443	
16.5	Nanocarbon-semiconductor hybrid materials for sustainable	
	energy — 447	
16.6	Summary — 448	
Jiangtac	Di, Zhigang Zhao, and Qingwen Li	

- Electrochromic and photovoltaic applications of nanocarbon 17 hybrids — 455
- 17.1 Introduction — 455
- 17.2 Nanocarbon Hybrids for electrochromic materials and devices — 456
- Intrinsic electrochromism of nanocarbons 456 17.2.1
- Synthesis and electrochromic properties of nanocarbon-metal oxide 17.2.2 hybrids — 457
- Electrochromic properties of nanocarbon–polymer hybrids 459 17.2.3

- 17.3 Nanocarbon hybrids for photovoltaic applications 461
- 17.3.1 Working mechanisms of PECs and OPVs 461
- 17.3.2 Nanocarbon hybrids for PECs 462
- 17.3.3 Nanocarbon hybrids for OPVs 468
- 17.4 Summary 469
- Rubén D. Costa and Dirk M. Guldi

18	Carbon nanomaterials as integrative components in dye-sensitized
	solar cells — 475
18.1	Today's dye-sensitized solar cells. Definition and potential —— 475
18.2	Major challenges in improving the performance of DSSCs — 477
18.3	Carbon nanomaterials as integrative materials in semiconducting
	electrodes — 479
18.3.1	Interlayers made out of carbon nanomaterials — 479
18.3.2	Implementation of carbon nanomaterials into electrode
	networks — 480
18.4	Carbon nanomaterials for solid-state electrolytes — 484
18.4.1	Fullerene-based solid-state electrolytes — 484
18.4.2	CNTs-based solid-state electrolytes — 485
18.4.3	Graphene-based solid-state electrolytes — 487
18.5	Versatility of carbon nanomaterials-based hybrids as novel type
	of dyes — 488
18.5.1	Fullerene-based dyes — 488
18.5.2	Graphene-based dyes — 490
18.6	Photoelectrodes prepared by nanographene hybrids — 492
18.6.1	Preparation of photoelectrodes by using noncovalently functionalized
	graphene —— 492
18.6.2	Preparation of photoelectrodes by preparing nanographene-based
	building blocks via electrostatic interactions — 494
18.7	Summary — 496
Linhica	P. Padavic

#### Ljubisa R. Radovic

- 19 Importance of edge atoms 503
- 19.1 Introduction 503
- 19.2 External edges 505
- 19.3 Internal edges 515
- 19.4 Edge reconstruction 519
- 19.5 Summary **522**

Index — 527

## **Contributing authors**

#### Markus Antonietti Max Planck Institute of Colloids and Interfaces Potsdam, Germany e-mail: pape@mpikg.mpg.de Chapter 7

Teresa J. Bandosz CUNY Energy Institute The City College of New York New York, NY, USA e-mail: Tbandosz@ccny.cuny.edu Chapter 10

#### Gabriele Centi

Department of Electronic Engineering, Chemistry and Industrial Engineering University of Messina Messina, Italy e-mail: centi@unime.it Chapter 16

#### Rubén D. Costa

Department of Chemistry and Pharmacy Friedrich–Alexander–University Erlangen, Germany e-mail: ruben.costa@fau.de Chapter 18

#### Rudolfo Cruz-Silva

Research Center for Exotic Nanocarbons (JST) Shinshu University Wakasato, Nagano, Japan e-mail: rcruzsilva@shinshu-u.ac.jp Chapter 4

#### Jiangtao Di

Suzhou Institute of Nanotech and Nanobionics Suzhou, China e-mail: jiangtao.di@utdallas.edu Chapter 17

#### **Xinliang Feng**

Max Planck Institute for Polymer Research Mainz, Germany e-mail: feng@mpip-mainz.mpg.de Chapter 12

#### **Benjamin Frank**

Department of Inorganic Chemistry Fritz Haber Institute of the Max Planck Society Berlin, Germany e-mail: benjamin.frank@mail.de Chapter 15

#### Paul Gebhardt

Department of Physical Chemistry Westfälische Wilhelms-University Münster, Germany e-mail: paul.gebhardt@uni-muenster.de Chapter 1

#### Dirk M. Guldi

Department of Chemistry and Pharmacy Friedrich–Alexander–University Erlangen, Germany e-mail: guldi@chemie.uni-erlangen.de Chapter 18

#### Aarón Morelos-Gómez

Faculty of Engineering Shinshu University Wakasato, Nagano, Japan e-mail: amorelos@shinshu-u.ac.jp Chapter 4

#### Qingwen Li

Suzhou Institute of Nanotech & Nanobionics Suzhou, China e-mail: qwli2007@sinano.ac.cn Chapter 17

#### F. Tristán López

Research Center for Exotic Nanocarbons (JST) Shinshu University Wakasato, Nagano, Japan e-mail: ftristan@shinshu-u.ac.jp Chapter 4

#### Urmimala Maitra

New Chemistry Unit and International Centre for Materials Science Jawaharlal Nehru Centre for Advanced Scientific Research (JNCASR) Bangalore, India urmi@jncasr.ac.in Chapter 6

#### H.S.S. Ramakrishna Matte

New Chemistry Unit and International Centre for Materials Science Jawaharlal Nehru Centre for Advanced Scientific Research (JNCASR) Bangalore, India krishnamatte@gmail.com Chapter 6

#### Michele Melchionna

INSTM, Unit of Trieste Department of Chemistry and Pharmacy University of Trieste Trieste, Italy e-mail: melchionnam@units.it Chapter 3

#### Klaus Müllen

Max Planck Institute for Polymer Research Mainz, Germany e-mail: muellen@mpip-mainz.mpg.de Chapter 12

#### Keith Paton

The Naughton Institute CRANN, Trinity College Dublin Dublin, Ireland e-mail: patonk@tcd.ie Chapter 2

#### Siglinda Perathoner

Department of Chemical Engineering Industrial Chemistry and Materials Science University of Messina Messina, Italy e-mail: perathon@unime.it Chapter 16

#### Maurizio Prato

Department of Chemistry and Pharmacy University of Trieste Trieste, Italy e-mail: prato@units.it Chapter 3

#### Ljubisa R.Radovic

The Pennsylvania State University University Park, PA, USA and Department of Chemical Engineering University of Concepión Concepión,Chile e-mail: ljrradovic@gmail.com Chapter 19

#### C.N.R. Rao

CSIR Centre for Excellence in Chemistry New Chemistry Unit and International Centre for Materials Science Jawaharlal Nehru Centre for Advanced Scientific Research (JNCASR) Bangalore, India e-mail: cnrrao@jncasr.ac.in Chapter 6

#### John Robertson

Department of Engineering University of Cambridge Cambridge, UK e-mail: jr@eng.cam.ac.uk Chapter 13

#### **Cameron J. Shearer**

Institute of Physical Chemistry Westfälische Wilhelms-University Münster Münster, Germany e-mail: cshea\_01@wwu.de Chapter 5

#### Dang Sheng Su

Department of Inorganic Chemistry Fritz Haber Institute of the Max Planck Society Berlin, Germany e-mail: dangsheng@fhi-berlin.mpg.de Chapter 11

#### Peter Strasser

Department of Chemistry Chemical Engineering division Technical University Berlin Berlin, Germany e-mail: pstrasser@tu-berlin.de Chapter 14

#### Mauricio Terrones

Department of Physics Eberly College of Science Pennsylvania State University University Park, PA, USA and Research Center for Exotic Nanocarbons (JST) Shinshu University Wakasato, Nagano, Japan e-mail: mutt11@psu.edu Chapter 4

#### Maria-Magdalena Titirici

School of Engineering and Materials Science Queen Mary University of London Mile End, Eng, E406 m.m.titirici@qmul.ac.uk Chapter 7

#### Panagiotis Trogadas

Department of Chemistry Chemical Engineering division Technical University Berlin Berlin, Germany e-mail: p.trogadas@ucl.ac.uk Chapter 14

#### Sofia M. Vega-Diaz

Research Center for Exotic Nanocarbons (JST) Shinshu University Wakasato, Nagano, Japan e-mail: sofia.mvega@gmail.com Chapter 4

#### Juan José Vilatela

IMDEA-Materials E.T.S. de Ingenieros de Caminos Madrid, Spain e-mail: juanjose.vilatela@imdea.org Chapter 8

#### Zhong-Shuai Wu

Max Planck Institute for Polymer Research Mainz, Germany e-mail: wuzs@mpip-mainz.mpg.de Chapter 12

#### Li Zhao

Institute of Coal Chemistry Chinese Academy of Sciences Taiyuan 030001 China Chapter 7

#### Zhigang Zhao

Suzhou Institute of Nanotech and Nanobionics Suzhou, China e-mail: zgzhao2011@sinano.ac.cn Chapter 17

Part I: Nanocarbon building blocks

## Paul Gebhardt and Dominik Eder

## 1 A short introduction on carbon nanotubes

## **1.1 Introduction**

Carbon nanotubes (CNTs) constitute a nanostructured carbon material that consists of rolled up layers of sp<sup>2</sup> hybridized carbon atoms forming a honeycomb lattice. After diamond, graphite and fullerenes, the one-dimensional tubular structure of CNTs is considered the 4<sup>th</sup> allotrope of carbon (graphene is the 5<sup>th</sup>).

For a long time the discovery of CNTs was attributed to the S. Iijima, who investigated soot formation during the production of fullerenes via arc discharge and observed the presence of "microfibrils" made of concentric carbon layers. Later he identified these microfibrils as possessing a honeycomb structure and being capped with fullerenes [1]. However, although this seminal paper in *Nature* in 1991 undoubtedly initiated a research field that has become tremendously popular, it was not the first publication on CNTs. In fact, electron micrographs of CNTs and carbon fibers have been published throughout the decades since as early as the 1950s, usually while being studied as by-products, impurities or catalyst poison in heterogeneous catalysis [2, 3]. It is now widely accepted that the first report on CNTs was published in 1952 by Radushkevich and Lukyanovich [4], who investigated the hydrogenation of CO over Fe catalysts under reaction conditions today deemed as suitable for CNT production. They documented the formation of "unusual carbon structures" by transmission electron microscopy (TEM). In contrast to these multi-walled CNTs (MWCNTs), the first report on single-walled carbon nanotubes (SWCNTs) was published in 1993 by Kiang et al. [5] and Iijima et al. [6] simultaneously (in the same issue of Nature on consecutive pages).

The remarkable interest in CNTs arose mainly because of their unique properties (see Section 1.3) that commend them for a wide range of applications involving both *science fiction*, *i.e.* space elevator [7], bullet-proof shirts [8], artificial muscles [9], and *real life applications*, *i.e.* field emission sources [10], Li-ion batteries [11], electrochemical storage devices [12], molecular sensors [13], hydrogen storage [14] and enhancing plant growth [15]. The incorporation of CNTs into organic or ceramic matrices (*i.e.* nanocomposites) and coating them with functional materials (*i.e.* hybrids) has increased their applicability and so stimulated further interest.

This chapter provides a concise summary of the most important concepts and characteristics of CNTs including structural aspects (*i.e.* chirality, defects, doping), properties (*i.e.* mechanical, electronic, thermal), synthesis and characterization techniques and post-processing strategies (*i.e.* purification, separation, functionalization), and is thus intended as an introduction for newcomers.

#### 1.2 Structural aspects

#### 1.2.1 Chirality

The structure of CNTs can be understood as sheets of graphene (*i.e.* monolayers of  $sp^2$  hybridized carbon, see Chapter 2) rolled-up into concentric cylinders. This results in the saturation of part of the dangling bonds of graphene and thus in a decrease of potential energy, which counterbalances strain energy induced by curvature and thus stabilizes the CNTs. Further stabilization can be achieved by saturating the dangling bonds at the tips of the tubes so that in most cases CNTs are terminated by fullerene caps. Consequently, the smallest stable fullerene, *i.e.* C60, which is ~ 0.7 nm in diameter, thus determines the diameter of the smallest CNT. The fullerene caps can be opened by chemical and heat treatment, as described in Section 1.5.

CNTs may consist of just one layer (*i.e.* single-walled carbon nanotubes, SWCNTs), two layers (DWCNTs) or many layers (MWCNTs) and per definition exhibit diameters in the range of 0.7 < d < 2 nm, 1 < d < 3 nm, and 1.4 < d < 150 nm, respectively. The length of CNTs depends on the synthesis technique used (Section 1.1.4) and can vary from a few microns to a current world record of a few cm [16]. This amounts to aspect ratios (*i.e.* length/diameter) of up to  $10^7$ , which are considerably larger than those of high-performance polyethylene (PE, Dyneema). The aspect ratio is a crucial parameter, since it affects, for example, the electrical and mechanical properties of CNT-containing nanocomposites.

The structure of SWCNTs is characterized by the concept of chirality, which essentially describes the way the graphene layer is wrapped and is represented by a pair of indices (n, m). The integers n and m denote the number of unit vectors  $(a_1, a_2)$  along the two directions in the hexagonal crystal lattice of graphene that result in the chiral vector  $C_n$  (Fig. 1.1):

$$C_n = na_1 + ma_2.$$

If m = 0, the nanotubes are called "*zigzag*" nanotubes, if n = m, the nanotubes are defined as "*armchair*" nanotubes, and all other orientations are called "*chiral*". The deviation of  $C_n$  from  $a_1$  is expressed by the inclination angle  $\theta$  and ranges from 0° ("armchair") to 30° ("zigzag") [17].

The lattice vector and thus (n, m) can be also used to calculate the tube diameter following

$$d = \frac{a\sqrt{m^2 + mn + n^2}}{\pi}$$

where  $a = 1.42 \times \sqrt{3}$  Å = 0.246 nm corresponds to the lattice constant in the graphite sheet (C-C distance for sp<sup>2</sup> hybridized carbon: 1.42 Å).



**Fig. 1.1:** (a) Schematic of unrolled SWCNT showing chiral vector  $C_n$  and the effect of m and n on the electronic properties of SWCNTs. (b, c, d) The direction of the chiral vector affects the appearance of the nanotube showing (b) (4,4) armchair, (c) (6,0) zigzag and (d) (5,3) exemplary chiral shape. With kind permission from [18].

#### 1.2.2 Defects

Depending on the synthesis procedure (see Section 1.4) and purification methods (Section 1.6.1), the structure of synthesized carbon nanotubes may include a range of defects (see Chapter 4).

"**Topological defects**" describe the presence of rings other than hexagons, *i.e.* pentagons  $(n_5)$  and heptagons  $(n_7)$ , which result in "kinks" and "elbows" in the usu-

ally planar hexagonal carbon layer. Strictly speaking, the fullerene caps are also topological defects as pentagons are essential for a spherical carbon structure. Pentagons and heptagons further accumulate near other defect sites in CNTs [19]. However, no ring sizes other than pentagons and heptagons have yet been observed [20]. Common occurrences of topological defects are pentagon-heptagon pairs directly connected to each other, which are also called Stone–Wales defects. This particular defect structure is more energetically favorable than other combinations [21].  $n_5 - n_7$  pairs can also be the center for intramolecular and intermolecular junctions, connecting two parts of one CNT with different helicity or two different CNTs [22]. The density of Stone-Wales defects is typically small due to the high activation barrier for the bond rotation (*i.e.* few eV). Stone–Wales defects further affect the absorption and charge transfer characteristics and increase strain energy, which leads to enhanced reactivity (i.e. for nucleophilic attack). A related group of defects are dislocations and vacancies. Vacancies can be induced by electron irradiation (e.g. by electron microscopy) and are also centers of enhanced chemical reactivity. On the other hand, vacancies can be annihilated in the presence of neighboring pentagon-heptagon pairs via an atomic exchange mechanism [23].

Although a honeycomb lattice theoretically consists of  $sp^2$  atoms, the carbon's ability to represent intermediate states of hybridization leads to another kind of defect to counterbalance the strain energy induced by high curvature. This so-called **rehy-bridization** results in a higher  $\pi$ -character of the C-C bonds [24]. Furthermore, local  $sp^3$  hybridization can be induced though chemical treatment, such as after thermal elimination of functional groups.

In general, most of these defects considerably affect the electronic, mechanical and chemical properties of CNTs [25]. For instance, the presence of just one carbon vacancy in the outer (*i.e.* load-bearing) carbon layer reduces the CNT's tensile strength by 30 % [26]. Defects are also scattering centers that limit the ballistic transport of electrons. However, structural defects on the outer surface of CNTs can also be beneficial when it comes to hybridizing them with metal oxides or other materials. Defects can serve as reaction centers for functionalization and as nucleation sites for crystal growth, influencing both crystallization (*i.e.* crystal structure, crystal defects) and growth (*i.e.* size, morphology) of the coating material [27–29].

#### 1.2.3 Doping

Another set of defects is created though the introduction of heteroatoms into CNTs, providing an attractive tool for adjusting their electronic characteristics. Heteroatoms can be incorporated in different ways. An early approach [30] was **intercalation** between the walls of MWCNTs. This can be achieved *ex situ* [31–33], *i.e.* processing readymade MWCNTs (*e.g.* annealing in ammonia), or *in situ*, *i.e.* during CNT synthesis [30].

In the latter case the experimental procedure depends on the synthesis method employed (see Section 1.5).

Alternatively, carbon atoms in the CNT lattice can be substituted for light elements such as nitrogen or boron ("**on-wall doping**") [34], which again can be achieved *ex situ* or *in situ* (*i.e.* using nitrogen-containing carbon precursors in a CVD process). *Ex situ* substitutional doping requires the removal of a carbon atom and is thus energetically challenging.

The idea of nitrogen doping of carbon materials has been investigated since the 1960s [35]. In graphitic materials like CNTs, nitrogen can be bonded in two ways [36]: In the graphite-like bonding, only one carbon atom is replaced by a nitrogen atom, being covalently bonded to the three neighboring carbon atoms. The other possibility is the additional existence of a stabilizing defect next to the nitrogen atom, called pyridine type N.

In general, differences in chemical bonding and electron configuration between carbon atoms and dopants mandate the deviation from the geometric and electronic equilibrium structure of the aromatic layers in CNTs. As a consequence, topological defects such as Stone–Wales defects are formed with increased probability [37].

In addition, differences in electron density between carbon and the dopant result in considerably altered electronic properties, because the dopant can either act as an electron donor (*e.g.* nitrogen) or acceptor (*e.g.* boron). In the case of graphitelike doping, these electrons are injected into the  $\pi$ system of the graphitic structure, which leads to the desired n-type doping [38]. Pyridine-type N doping may produce n- or p-type behavior, depending on the doping level and the number of carbon vacancies [36].

## **1.3 Properties of CNTs**

CNTs have received tremendous interest from both fundamental and applied research due to their unique physical properties [39]. These properties stem from their aromatic nature as well as the quasi 1D tubular geometry that renders many properties anisotropic. Table 1.1 summarizes the most important properties of CNTs.

#### 1.3.1 Mechanical properties

CNTs are among the world's strongest materials. The mechanical characteristics of CNTs stand out due to their very high stiffness and tensile strength. The Young's modulus, *i.e.* a measure of stiffness and thus of how much a given material deforms upon application of mechanical stress, is about 1 TPa, which is comparable to in-plane graphite [40].

Tensile strength is the maximum mechanical stress that can be applied to a material without breaking it. Values have been calculated that reach up to 800 GPa for SWCNTs [41, 42]. Experimental data are typically significantly lower. Measuring the mechanical properties of individual CNTs constitutes a considerable challenge. The most reliable yet tedious approach is to identify an individual tube on a substrate and connect each end to an AFM tip. Still, the data are often not comparable due to the presence of a random number of structural defects (*i.e.* vacancies), which dramatically affect the strength of the CNT. Pugno *et al.* calculated that the presence of just one defect in the outer wall can reduce the tensile strength of a CNT by one third [7]. Therefore, the experimental data for single MWCNTs range from 15 to 270 GPa [43, 44]. In spite of these large differences, CNTs have the highest tensile strength of all known materials and even the "weakest" of the investigated CNTs are ~ 30 times stronger than steel [43].

#### **1.3.2 Electronic properties**

The electronic properties of CNTs are of particular importance for hybrid materials and strongly depend on the structure of the CNTs. Theoretical [45–48] and experimental results [49] reveal that SWCNTs are either metallic or semiconducting depending on diameter and chirality, while MWCNTs are generally metallic (due to band alignment upon interlayer interactions).

Flat single-layer graphene is a zero band-gap semiconductor [50], in which every direction for electron transport is possible. However, when the graphene sheet is rolled up to form a SWCNT, the number of allowed states is limited by quantum confinement in the radial direction [17], *i.e.* the movement of electrons is confined by the periodic boundary condition [51]:

$$C \cdot k = 2\pi q$$

in which *C* is the circumference of the CNT, *k* is the wave vector and *q* is an integer. As mentioned above, the orientation of the wave vector *k* depends on the (n, m) chirality on the tube. In the case of |n - m| = 3q, *k* passes through a Kpoint in the Brillouin Zone and the CNT is metallic, while for |n - m| = 3q, no Kpoint will be passed by *k* and the band structure is characterized by a finite band gap, *i.e.* the CNT is semiconducting (Fig. 1.2). The band gap decreases with increasing diameter of the CNT. However, very small CNTs might show exceptional behavior due to curvature effects [52] which result in a deviation from this classification.

In principle, metallic CNTs are ballistic conductors (*i.e.* electrons move without scattering), which means that the resistance is independent of the nanotube length. In MWCNTs, the conductance is defined by the outermost layer [53]. In general, the ballistic nature of CNTs is affected by the presence of structural defects [54]. Still, experimental values for electric current density are exceptionally high, *i.e.* up to 4 ·



**Fig. 1.2:** (a), (b), (c), and (d) show the corresponding wave vectors (yellow lines) aind K-points (red dots) for structures in reciprocal space, as calculated by the tight binding method, belonging to (a) and (b) graphene, (c) metallic (4,4) SWCNT, (d) semiconducting (5,3) SWCNT, respectively. The blue dots represent energy maxima and the pink points represent saddle (M) points. (e) and (f) represent electronic band structures: (e) shows a (4,4) metallic nanotube where wave vectors cross a K-point and (f) shows a (5,3) semiconducting nanotube where no wave vectors cross a K-point. With kind permission from [18].

 $10^9$  A/cm<sup>2</sup>, which is more than 1000 times greater than in metals such as copper or aluminum [55] and is only outmatched by graphene [56].

#### **1.3.3 Thermal properties**

The thermal conductivity of individual SWCNTs was calculated to be as large as  $6600 \text{ Wm}^{-1}\text{K}^{-1}$  in axial direction, but only  $1.52 \text{ Wm}^{-1}\text{K}^{-1}$  perpendicular to its axis

[57]. Although the experimental values are significantly lower (*e.g.* 3500  $Wm^{-1}K^{-1}$  [58]), thermal conductivity is still roughly ten times that of copper, which is generally considered a material with good thermal conduction.

CNTs also possess a high thermal stability when treated in inert atmosphere (*e.g.* 2800 °C). In air, however, SWCNTs and MWCNTs will oxidize, albeit at comparatively high temperatures ranging between ~ 650 and 750 °C, respectively [59]. The presence of defects can to some extent affect the oxidation of CNTs, slightly reducing the oxidation temperature. Furthermore, the oxidation temperature of CNTs can be reduced considerably by the presence of metal oxide particles on the surface of CNTs (such as in nanocarbon-inorganic hybrids), in some cases down to 320 °C [60]. This catalytic activity of metal oxides correlates with their reducibility, *i.e.* the feasibility to create an oxygen vacancy, which suggests that the catalytic oxidation of CNTs proceeds via lattice oxygen at the metal oxide-CNT interface, presumably according to the Mars–van Krevelen mechanism.

Property	SWCNTs	MWCNTs	Graphite
Specific gravity	0.8 g/cm <sup>3</sup>	< 1.8 g/cm <sup>3</sup>	2.26 g/cm <sup>3</sup>
Young's modulus	~ 1.4 TPa	~ 0.3-1 TPa	1 TPa (in plane)
Strength	50-500 GPa	15–60 GPa	
Resistivity	<b>Resistivity</b> 5–50 μΩ cm		50 μΩ cm (in plane)
Thermal conductivity	$3000 \mathrm{Wm}^{-1}\mathrm{K}^{-1}$		3000 Wm <sup>-1</sup> K <sup>-1</sup> (in plane) 6 Wm <sup>-1</sup> K <sup>-1</sup> (in plane)
Thermal expansion	Negligible		$-1 \times 10^{-6} \text{K}^{-1}$ (in plane) 29 × 10 <sup>-6</sup> K <sup>-1</sup> (c-axis)
Thermal stability	600–800 °C in air 2800 °C in vacuum		× ,

Tab. 1.1: Properties of CNTs, from [39] with kind permission from ACS Publications.

#### **1.4 Characterization**

This section provides brief insights on some of the most important characterization techniques used for CNTs and other nanocarbons in addition to microscopy-related (*i.e.* SEM, TEM, AFM, STM) and diffraction (*i.e.* X-ray, electron) techniques.

**Raman spectroscopy** is one of the most powerful techniques for the characterization of nanocarbons. It is also a convenient technique because it involves almost no sample preparation and leaves the material unharmed. There are four characteristic bands for CNTs: The band at ~ 200 cm<sup>-1</sup> is called radial breathing mode (RBM). It depends on the curvature and can be used to calculate the diameter of SWCNTs [61]. The relatively broad D-band at 1340 cm<sup>-1</sup> is assigned to sp<sup>2</sup>-related defects and disorder in the graphitic structure of the material. The tangential C-C stretching mode is located at ~ 1560 cm<sup>-1</sup> (G-band). The second order mode of the D-band can be observed (G'-band,

also known as 2D-band) at 2450–2650 cm<sup>-1</sup> [62]. The quantity of defects is often evaluated by comparing the  $I_D/I_G$  ratio of the D- and G-bands [63]. Information on the chirality of SWCNTs can be obtained by correlating the RBM and the anti-Stokes Raman lines [63].

*Information obtained:* Diameter of SWCNTs, defects/crystallinity of CNTs, number of layers (if few).

**Photoluminescence** spectroscopy is used to analyze the electronic properties of semiconducting CNTs [64]. The emission wavelength is particularly sensitive to the tube diameter [65] and chemical defects [66]. However, a more dedicated sample preparation is required in order to eliminate van der Waals and charge transfer interactions between bundled CNTs. This can be done via ultrasonication or treatment of the bundles with surfactants that separate individual CNTs and suppress interactions between them [67].

*Information obtained:* Chirality of semiconducting SWCNTs (and thus diameter), band gap, bundling.

**X-ray photoelectron spectroscopy (XPS)** and infrared spectroscopy (FTIR) are used to gather information about the surface properties of CNTs, including functionalization, doping and structural modifications. In a study on SWCNTs, the C1s consisted of signals for sp<sup>2</sup> (2843.0 eV), sp<sup>3</sup> (285.0 eV) and oxygen bonded carbon (288.5 eV). Compared to highly-ordered pyrolytic graphite (HOPG) [68], the C1s peak of CNTs is significantly broadened because of defects and C-H bonds on the surface.

Computational simulations [68] suggest the possibility of identifying 7–8 **in-frared**-active vibrational modes that depend on the chiral structure of CNTs. This was supported by experimental infrared spectroscopy [69] of SWCNTs, where features around 1598 and 874 cm<sup>-1</sup> were found that could be linked to the calculated results.

*Information obtained:* sp<sup>2</sup>/sp<sup>3</sup> level (*i.e.* defect), functional groups, dopants, chirality.

## **1.5 Synthesis**

The topic of different synthesis techniques is well covered in several text books [70, 71] and review articles [72–74]. Thus, only a very brief introduction on the most important approaches is given here.

#### 1.5.1 Laser ablation

Among the first techniques, applied primarily for SWCNTs, is the vaporization of a mixture of graphite target through ablation using a pulsed [75] or continuous [76] laser. In order to obtain SWCNTs, the graphite target needs to be modified with a metal catalyst (*e.g.* Co, Ni), the process needs to be carried out in an inert atmosphere (argon/nitrogen) and under reduced pressure (*e.g.* 650 mbar) and can be optimized by increasing the temperature to about 1200 °C [77]. Interestingly, helium is not used because its low molecular weight results in too high a cooling rate, which negatively affects nanotube formation [78].

Scott and co-workers [79] proposed a mechanism for CNT formation that involves the initial formation of a carbon cloud consisting of short carbon entities  $(C_1 - C_3)$  and vaporized catalyst. Upon cooling, the condensation of the catalyst hinders the aggregation of carbon blocks into larger clusters, while supporting the anisotropic addition of carbon units into SWCNTs instead. The deposited SWCNTs are then collected from the cooled chamber walls after the synthesis.

In general, this synthesis approach features a good control over the diameter by adjusting the pressure in the reaction chamber and produces SWCNTs with few structural defects. Disadvantages are the high cost and poor scalability of this method due to the usage of a laser.

#### 1.5.2 Arc discharge

Ablation of graphite through arc discharge constitutes another method that has become popular due to its simplicity. It involves applying an electric field (DC) between two graphite rods in an argon-filled reaction chamber. This stimulates an arc discharge between the graphite electrodes that creates very high local temperatures (~ 4000 °C). As a result, carbon is vaporized from the anode and re-deposited on the cathode, forming MWCNTs [80]. During the process, the anode is moved in order to provide a constant distance between the electrodes (*i.e.* distance of 1 cm). Although this technique is primarily used to produce MWCNTs, SWCNTs can also be obtained in high yields using a catalyst on the cathode or anode (*e.g.* Co [5] or Ni-Y [81]).

The advantages of this method include the simple experimental setup as well as the possibility to produce CNTs in relatively large quantities. However, it typically produces relatively short CNTs with a wide range of diameters as well as low purity, often producing fullerenes, graphite sheets or amorphous carbon as side products [82].

#### 1.5.3 Molten salt route / electrolytic process

One synthesis approach that does not rely on CNT formation from the gas phase is molten salt synthesis. The reactor consists of a vertically oriented quartz tube that contains two graphite electrodes (*i.e.* anode is also the crucible) and is filled with ionic salts (*e.g.* LiCl or LiBr). An external furnace keeps the temperature at around 600 °C, which leads to the melting of the salt. Upon applying an electric field the ions penetrate and exfoliate the graphite cathode, producing graphene-type sheets that wrap up into CNTs on the cathode surface. Subsequently, the reactor is allowed to cool down, washed with water, and nanocarbon materials are extracted with toluene [83]. This process typically yields 20–30 % MWCNTs of low purity.

This process is very simple and requires low temperatures. However, the MWC-NTs predominantly contain a large number of structural defects as well as amorphous carbon impurities. Furthermore, a significant part of the salt remains encapsulated within the CNTs.

#### 1.5.4 Chemical vapor deposition (CVD)

Chemical vapor deposition (CVD) is versatile and currently the most popular method for the synthesis of SWCNTs and MWCNTs as well as other nanocarbons. CVD requires (1) a carbon source (e.g. methane, acetylene, toluene, ethanol etc.), (2) a catalyst (e.g. Fe, Co, Ni and various alloys), and (3) a suitable energy source (*e.g.* heat, plasma, laser). In the simplest case, *i.e.* the thermal CVD process, the carbon source is injected into a tube reactor along with an inert or reducing feed gas and decomposed at temperatures between 550-1200 °C. The resulting small carbon units then diffuse into the catalyst nanoparticles, which were either pre-deposited on a suitable substrate (e.g. silica, alumina) or continuously injected along with the carbon source (e.g. ferrocenetoluene solutions [84]). The key requirement for a suitable catalyst is a low solubility of carbon in the metal [71]. When the carbon concentration reaches saturation, carbon atoms segregate to the surface and precipitate in the thermodynamically favored hexagonal structure, still attached to the metal surface via  $3d-\pi$  interactions [85]. According to the *yarmulke* mechanism [86], the driving force for this precipitation is the compensation of the high surface energy of the catalyst nanoparticles by the very low surface energy of this graphene-type sheet. These layers can act as nucleation sites for the growth of CNTs, which grow as long as carbon atoms are provided via diffusion through the bulk catalyst. In most cases the metal catalyst is pre-deposited onto a substrate such as silica or alumina. Depending on the strength of interaction between the catalyst particles and the support, the CNTs grow either via a base-growth model (i.e. metal particles remain attached to the substrate) or a tip-growth mechanism (i.e. the particles are lifted off the surface upon CNT growth and remain encapsulated near the CNTs' tips). In general, MWCNTs require the growth of multiple layers on the catalyst particle and favor larger catalyst particles. In contrast, SWCNTs are primarily produced on small catalyst particles, where the formation of additional layers is energetically restricted by their curvature [87]. The *yarmulke* mechanism further implies that all layers grow simultaneously.

The pre-deposition of catalyst particles enables the growth of vertically aligned CNTs [88] on substrates with positional control of the growth, such as is required for electrical devices for example [89]. In the modification of "continuously feeding the catalyst", variation of reaction time provides excellent control of the CNT length. Finally, it enables the continuous production of hierarchical nanocarbon assemblies, such as CNT fibers [84], which are macroscopic materials that harness the nanoscopic properties of CNTs and offer great potential for applications (*i.e.* rope, cables, and components in textiles...). In contrast, the CNTs often contain more defects than those produced *e.g.* via laser ablation, while part of the metal catalyst generally remains within the CNT sample, typically encapsulated within the interior walls, and may require post-synthesis purification (see next section). Still, the CVD process is a versatile and scalable technique that renders it the preferred method both for scientific as well as commercial production of high quality CNTs in large yields [90].

#### **1.6 Post-synthesis treatments**

#### 1.6.1 Purification

Depending on the synthesis technique, CNTs may contain various impurities, including fullerenes and irregular carbon structures on the surface (*i.e.* amorphous) as well as residual salts and metal catalysts often encapsulated within a carbon shell.

Metal catalyst particles that are not encapsulated or covered by a carbon shell can easily be removed by washing the CNTs in mineral acids such as HCl. If the metal particles are covered by an "amorphous" carbon shell, this acid treatment can be assisted by microwave heating [91]. In contrast, metal particles that are encapsulated within closed CNTs require harsher conditions, such as ultrasonication/heating under reflux in strongly oxidizing acids (*e.g.*  $HNO_3/H_2SO_4$ ), which first open the tubes and then dissolve the metal residues. It further renders the CNTs hydrophilic by incorporating oxygen functionalities, such as carboxylic, epoxy and hydroxyl groups (see Section 1.6.3). This property enables better dispersion in aqueous solutions as well as subsequent hybridization with inorganic compounds into composites and especially hybrid materials. However, apart from being a tedious and nasty chemical process, oxidative acid treatment does not provide sufficient control over the type, number and location of such functional groups (and thus the inorganic coating).

A more gentle approach would be the oxidative treatment in humid air at elevated temperatures [92]. This method selectively removes the amorphous carbon, while keeping the corrosion of the carbon surface to a minimum. The degree of purification/functionalization is determined by the vapor pressure of water as well as the temperature. In the latter case, the applied temperature must remain well below that of CNT oxidation (*i.e.* 600–700 °C), which strongly depends on the presence of catalytic impurities. For example, the presence of reducible metal oxides attached to the CNT's surface can reduce the oxidation temperature down to values as low as 330 °C [60].

A more sensitive approach to purification is the usage of non-oxidizing heat treatments [39, 93]. The amorphous carbon coating can be easily removed via annealing at ~ 1000 °C in flowing inert atmosphere. The tips of CNTs can be opened and much of the metal residues removed upon raising the temperature to about 1600 °C, depending on the melting point of the metal particles. At even higher temperatures (2000 °C, Ar), graphitization of the CNTs may even lead to an annealing of structural defects [39].

**Tab. 1.2:** Summary of typical purification techniques for CNTs. <sup>a</sup> Treatment can remove metal catalyst residues. <sup>b</sup> Carbon residues (*e.g.* amorphous or organic aromatic debris). <sup>c</sup> Purification introduces covalently bonded functional groups. <sup>d</sup> Only if not covered with carbon or encapsulated within CNT. <sup>e</sup> Only amorphous carbon around metal particles. From [39] with kind permission from ACS Publications.

	Metals <sup>a</sup>	Carbon <sup>b</sup>	Functional <sup>c</sup>	Comments
Heating in air/O <sub>2</sub>		Х	Х	opens tips
Heating in wet O <sub>2</sub>		Х		
HCl <sub>conc</sub>	X <sup>d</sup>			assisted with microwave or magnetic field
$HNO_3/H_2SO_4$	Х	Х	Х	open tips, shortens CNTs
Microwave		X <sup>e</sup>		aided by acids (e.g., HCl)
Ar @ 2000 °C	Х	Х		anneals crystal structure

#### 1.6.2 Separation of metallic and semiconducting CNTs

As mentioned above, the electronic properties of SWCNTs depend on their chirality and may be semiconducting or metallic. There is still no satisfying way to produce just one sort of SWCNTs, which would require the exact control of catalyst particle size at elevated temperature. Hence, the separation of semiconducting from metallic SWCNTs is of paramount importance for their application in, for example, electric devices, field emission and photovoltaics etc.

Common separation methods can be divided into chemical and physical routes. **Chemical approaches** rely on the interaction of the surface of different CNT types with surfactant molecules. Early work has shown that octadecylamine [94] and agarose gel [95] adsorb preferably on semiconducting SWCNTs, while diazonium reagents [96] and DNA [97, 98] show preference with metallic tubes. The assemblies with adsorbed molecular species are considerably larger and heavier than the indi-

vidual CNTs and can subsequently be separated via standard separation methods like ion exchange, chromatography or microfiltration. With these techniques CNTs can be separated depending on length [99], diameter [97] and chirality [100].

The **physical approach** uses alternating current (ac-) dielectrophoresis to separate metallic and semiconducting SWCNTs in a single step without the need for chemical modifications [101]. The difference in dielectric constant between the two types of SWCNTs results in an opposite movement along an electric field gradient between two electrodes. This leads to the deposition of metallic nanotubes on the microelectrode array, while semiconducting CNTs remain in the solution and are flushed out of the system. Drawbacks of this separation technique are the formation of mixed bundles of CNTs due to insufficient dispersion and difficulties in up-scaling the process [102].

#### 1.6.3 Functionalization

The surface properties of CNTs are paramount for their hybridization with other components. The formation of large bundles due to van der Waals interactions between hydrophobic CNT walls further limits the accessibility of individual tubes. Functionalization of CNTs can enhance their dispersion in aqueous solvent mixtures and provide a means for tailoring the interfacial interactions in hybrid and composite materials. Functionalization techniques can be divided in covalent and non-covalent routes, which will be described in greater detail in Chapter 3.

**Covalent functionalization** requires the formation of a chemical bond with a surface carbon, which means the disruption of the graphitic structure and thus harsh reaction conditions. The simplest way is the aforementioned ultrasonication in oxidizing acids under elevated temperatures that results in carboxyl- and other oxygenated functionalities [104, 105]. It is very difficult to control the type, amount and exact location of these groups, which typically accumulate near defects and CNT tips due to enhanced reactivity of these sites [106, 107]. However, a great variety of covalent functionalization strategies have been developed over the last few years (see Chapter 3) that provide a wide range of functional groups. SWCNTs have been the focus of research because their high curvature induces enhanced reactivity that allows sidewall functionalization (Fig. 1.3). In contrast, the low reactivity of MWCNTs, *i.e.* essentially as inert as graphite, requires the presence of structural defects for covalent functionalization (Fig. 1.3). Covalent functionalization offers a very stable modification that can withstand high pressure and temperature, convection and sonication and has therefore been realized with aryl diazonium salts [108], azomethine ylides [109], nitrenes [110], and organic radicals [111]. Furthermore, fluorine functionalization [112] has been carried out which allows subsequent interactions with alkyllithium [113] and Grignard [114] reagents or terminal diamines [115]. However, introducing an additional covalent bond induces a change in hybridization towards sp<sup>3</sup> hybridized carbon atoms. Since the outer CNT layer is responsible for a good part of the conductance properties of CNTs



**Fig. 1.3:** Functionalization pathways for SWNTs: (a) defect-group functionalization, (b) covalent sidewall functionalization, (c) noncovalent exohedral functionalization with surfactants, (d) noncovalent exohedral functionalization with polymers, and (e) endohedral functionalization with, for example,  $C_{60}$ . For methods (b)–(e), the tubes are drawn in idealized fashion, but defects are found in real situations. From [103] with kind permission of Wiley.

as well as for their tensile strength (compare Section 1.3.2), covalent functionalization has a considerable, typically negative impact on their properties.

The alternative **noncovalent functionalization** does not rely on chemical bonds but on weaker Coulomb, van der Waals or  $\pi$ - $\pi$  interactions to connect CNTs to surfaceactive molecules such as surfactants, aromatics, biomolecules (*e.g.* DNA), polyelectrolytes and polymers. In most cases, this approach is used to improve the dispersion properties of CNTs [116], for example via charge repulsion between micelles of sodium dodecylsulfate [65] adsorbed on the CNT surface or a large solvation shell formed by neutral molecule (*e.g.* polyvinylpyrrolidone) [117] around the CNTs.

One good example of noncovalent functionalization for subsequent hybridization is the use of benzyl alcohol (BA) [118].  $\pi$ - $\pi$  interactions between the aromatic ring of BA and the CNT sidewalls result in a good dispersibility in ethanol. Furthermore, BA offers a well-ordered and well-distributed functionalization [119] of hydroxyl groups on the sidewalls of the CNTs that can be used to hybridize the material with a large number of metal oxides using conventional chemical methods [60].

#### 1.6.4 Assembly

The macroscopic design of CNT materials is an important factor regarding possible applications. Due to their anisotropy (see Section 1.3), the respective orientation and ordered structure can strongly affect the macroscopic properties of CNTs. Numerous attempts have been made in this direction, including different kinds of aligned CNTs [120]; CNT carpets [121], films [122, 123] and fibers [124]. Of these, this chapter will only focus on the latter.

In contrast to early post-synthesis attempts of fiber formation [125, 126], a more advanced route produces CNT fibers directly from a CVD oven [84]. It uses a CVD setup with an oxygen-containing carbon source and a catalyst mixture of ferrocene and thiophene. At temperatures around 1150 °C the forming aerogel can be drawn by winding it onto a rotating rod, collecting a continuous flow of fiber onto a spindle. That way, fibers can be wound at speeds up to 100 m/min with strengths beyond 2 GPa/SG, which make them some of the world's strongest fibers [124].

#### **1.7 Summary**

Carbon nanotubes comprise a very promising material for various applications and especially as an active component in composites and hybrids as will be documented in the other chapters of this book. Harnessing these nanoscopic assets in a macroscopic material would maximize CNTs' potential and applicability. The choice of synthesis technique and purification method, which define size, type, properties, quality and purity of CNTs as well as their processability, is crucial for their implementation into composites and hybrids.

For example, the exceptional electronic properties of CNTs are most distinct in metallic nanotubes, having a very high conductivity. In a realistic application as photosensitizer, however, a semiconductor is required, which implies further demands on the chiral structure of the CNTs (see Section 1.3.2). The use of a hypothetical CNT-inorganic hybrid with a semiconductor coating on the CNT surface in a dye-sensitized solar cell (DSSC) [127] also implies the need for closed caps. Otherwise, electrolyte could leak inside the nanotube channel, leading to a direct CNT electrolyte interface, and thus, to a short circuit. As a consequence, the need for closed tips reduces the options for surface functionalization, because a harsh acid treatment would also lead to an opening at the tips. One answer to this problem could be the use of CNTs with a defect-rich surface, defects being a possible nucleation point and reactive site for possible coatings. The trade-off for this, however, may be increase electrical resistance caused by the larger amount of defect sites in the CNT walls.

It is still a great challenge to obtain control of the different characteristics and the specific properties of CNTs that restrict their use in commercial real-life applications. However, considering the ongoing progress in research and development on CNTs

and other nanocarbons as well as their hybrids and composites, combined with the steadily increasing industrial production of CNTs, the future of CNTs appears bright and promising.

## **Bibliography**

- [1] lijima, S. *Nature* **1991**, *354*, 56.
- [2] Monthioux, M.; Kuznetsov, V. L. Carbon 2006, 44, 1621.
- [3] Oberlin, A.; Endo, M.; Koyama, T. Journal of Crystal Growth 1976, 32, 335.
- [4] Radushkevich, L. V.; Lukyanovich, V. M. VM Zurn Fisic Chim 1952, 88.
- [5] Bethune, D. S.; Klang, C. H.; de Vries, M. S.; Gorman, G.; Savoy, R.; Vazquez, J.; Beyers, R. *Nature* 1993, *363*, 605.
- [6] lijima, S.; Ichihashi, T. *Nature* **1993**, *363*, 603.
- [7] Pugno, N. M. J. Phys.: Condens. Matter 2006, 18, S1971.
- [8] Mylvaganam, K.; Zhang, L. C. Appl. Phys. Lett. 2006, 89, 123127.
- [9] Aliev, A. E.; Oh, J.; Kozlov, M. E.; Kuznetsov, A. A.; Fang, S.; Fonseca, A. F.; Ovalle, R.; Lima, M. D.; Haque, M. H.; Gartstein, Y. N.; Zhang, M.; Zakhidov, A. A.; Baughman, R. H. Science 2009, 323, 1575.
- [10] Yue, G. Z.; Qiu, Q.; Gao, B.; Cheng, Y.; Zhang, J.; Shimoda, H.; Chang, S.; Lu, J. P.; Zhou, O. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* **2002**, *81*, 355.
- Zhong, D. Y.; Zhang, G. Y.; Liu, S.; Wang, E. G.; Wang, Q.; Li, H.; Huang, X. J. Appl. Phys. Lett. 2001, 79, 3500.
- [12] Frackowiak, E.; Béguin, F. Carbon 2002, 40, 1775.
- [13] Wang, J. Electrocatalysis 2005, 17, 7.
- [14] Darkrim, F. L.; Malbrunot, P.; Tartaglia, G. P. *International Journal of Hydrogen Energy* **2002**, *27*, 193.
- [15] Khodakovskaya, M.; Dervishi, E.; Mahmood, M.; Xu, Y.; Li, Z.; Watanabe, F.; Biris, A. S. ACS Nano 2009, 3, 3221.
- [16] Wen, Q.; Zhang, R.; Qian, W.; Wang, Y.; Tan, P.; Nie, J.; Wei, F. Chemistry of Materials 2010, 22, 1294.
- [17] Terrones, M. Ann. Rev. Mat. Res. 2003, 33, 419.
- [18] Shearer, C. J., Flinders University, 2011.
- [19] Suenaga, K.; Wakabayashi, H.; Koshino, M.; Sato, Y.; Urita, K.; Iijima, S. Nat Nano 2007, 2, 358.
- [20] Ebbesen, T. W.; Takada, T. *Carbon* **1995**, *33*, 973.
- [21] Jeong, B. W.; Ihm, J.; Lee, G.-D. Phys. Rev. B 2008, 78, 165403.
- [22] Charlier, J. C. Accounts of Chemical Research 2002, 35, 1063.
- [23] Lee, G.-D.; Wang, C.-Z.; Yoon, E.; Hwang, N.-M.; Ho, K.-M. Appl. Phys. Lett. 2010, 97, 093106.
- [24] Kane, C. L.; Mele, E. J. Phys. Rev. Lett. 1997, 78, 1932.
- [25] Blase, X.; Benedict, L. X.; Shirley, E. L.; Louie, S. G. Phys. Rev. Lett. 1994, 72, 1878.
- [26] Pugno, N. M. J. Phys.: Condens. Matter 2008, 20, 474205.
- [27] Eder, D.; Windle, A. H. J. Mater. Chem. 2008, 18, 2036.
- [28] Krissanasaeranee, M.; Wongkasemjit, S.; Cheetham, A. K.; Eder, D. Chemical Physics Letters 2010, 496, 133.
- [29] Ren, Z.; Kim, E.; Pattinson, S. W.; Subrahmanyam, K. S.; Rao, C. N. R.; Cheetham, A. K.; Eder, D. Chem. Sci. 2011, 3, 209.

- [30] Zhou, O.; Fleming, R. M.; Murphy, D. W.; Chen, C. H.; Haddon, R. C.; Ramirez, A. P.; Glarum, S. H. Science 1994, 263, 1744.
- [31] Duclaux, L. Carbon 2002, 40, 1751.
- [32] Hamwi, A.; Alvergnat, H.; Bonnamy, S.; Béguin, F. Carbon 1997, 35, 723.
- [33] Maurin, G.; Bousquet, C.; Henn, F.; Bernier, P.; Almairac, R.; Simon, B. *Chemical Physics Letters* **1999**, *312*, 14.
- [34] Ayala, P.; Arenal, R.; Rümmeli, M.; Rubio, A.; Pichler, T. *Carbon* **2010**, *48*, 575.
- [35] Marchand, A.; Zanchetta, J. V. Carbon **1966**, *3*, 483.
- [36] Terrones, M.; Jorio, A.; Endo, M.; Rao, A. M.; Kim, Y. A.; Hayashi, T.; Terrones, H.; Charlier, J. C.; Dresselhaus, G.; Dresselhaus, M. S. *Materials Today* 2004, *7*, 30.
- [37] Golberg, D.; Bando, Y.; Bourgeois, L.; Kurashima, K.; Sato, T. Carbon 2000, 38, 2017.
- [38] Krstić, V.; Rikken, G. L. J. A.; Bernier, P.; Roth, S.; Glerup, M. EPL [Europhysics Letters] 2007, 77, 37001.
- [39] Eder, D. Chem. Rev. 2010, 110, 1348.
- [40] Robertson, D. H.; Brenner, D. W.; Mintmire, J. W. Phys. Rev. B 1992, 45, 12592.
- [41] Ruoff, R. S.; Lorents, D. C. Carbon 1995, 33, 925.
- [42] Yakobson, B. I.; Brabec, C. J.; Bernholc, J. Phys. Rev. Lett. 1996, 76, 2511.
- [43] Yu, M.-F.; Lourie, O.; Dyer, M. J.; Moloni, K.; Kelly, T. F.; Ruoff, R. S. Science 2000, 287, 637.
- [44] Demczyk, B. G.; Wang, Y. M.; Cumings, J.; Hetman, M.; Han, W.; Zettl, A.; Ritchie, R. O. Materials Science and Engineering: A 2002, 334, 173.
- [45] Hamada, N.; Sawada, S.-i.; Oshiyama, A. Phys. Rev. Lett. 1992, 68, 1579.
- [46] Mintmire, J. W.; Dunlap, B. I.; White, C. T. Phys. Rev. Lett. 1992, 68, 631.
- [47] Saito, R.; Fujita, M.; Dresselhaus, G.; Dresselhaus, M. S. Appl. Phys. Lett. 1992, 60, 2204.
- [48] Saito, R.; Fujita, M.; Dresselhaus, G.; Dresselhaus, M. S. Phys. Rev. B 1992, 46, 1804.
- [49] Odom, T. W.; Huang, J.-L.; Kim, P.; Lieber, C. M. Nature 1998, 391, 62.
- [50] Wallace, P. R. Phys. Rev. 1947, 71, 622.
- [51] Joselevich, E. *ChemPhysChem* **2004**, *5*, 619.
- [52] Lu, X.; Chen, Z. Chem. Rev. 2005, 105, 3643.
- [53] Delaney, P.; Di Ventra, M.; Pantelides, S. T. Appl. Phys. Lett. 1999, 75, 3787.
- [54] Wei, B. Q.; Vajtai, R.; Ajayan, P. M. Appl. Phys. Lett. 2001, 79, 1172.
- [55] Hong, S.; Myung, S. Nat Nano **2007**, *2*, 207.
- [56] Akturk, A.; Goldsman, N. J. Appl. Phys. 2008, 103, 053702.
- [57] Berber, S.; Kwon, Y.-K.; Tománek, D. Phys. Rev. Lett. 2000, 84, 4613.
- [58] Pop, E.; Mann, D.; Wang, Q.; Goodson, K.; Dai, H. Nano Lett. 2006, 6, 96.
- [59] Thostenson, E. T.; Li, C.; Chou, T.-W. Composites Science and Technology 2005, 65, 491.
- [60] Aksel, S.; Eder, D. J. Mater. Chem. 2010, 20, 9149.
- [61] Rols, S.; Righi, A.; Alvarez, L.; Anglaret, E.; Almairac, R.; Journet, C.; Bernier, P.; Sauvajol, J. L.; Benito, A. M.; Maser, W. K.; Muñoz, E.; Martinez, M. T.; de laFuente, G. F.; Girard, A.; Ameline, J. C. *Eur. Phys. J. B* **2000**, *18*, 201.
- [62] Mamedov, A. A.; Kotov, N. A.; Prato, M.; Guldi, D. M.; Wicksted, J. P.; Hirsch, A. Nat Mater 2002, 1, 190.
- [63] Dresselhaus, M. S.; Jorio, A.; Hofmann, M.; Dresselhaus, G.; Saito, R. Nano Lett. 2010, 10, 751.
- [64] Belin, T.; Epron, F. Materials Science and Engineering: B 2005, 119, 105.
- [65] O'Connell, M. J.; Bachilo, S. M.; Huffman, C. B.; Moore, V. C.; Strano, M. S.; Haroz, E. H.;
  Rialon, K. L.; Boul, P. J.; Noon, W. H.; Kittrell, C.; Ma, J.; Hauge, R. H.; Weisman, R. B.; Smalley,
  R. E. *Science* 2002, *297*, 593.
- [66] Lauret, J. S.; Voisin, C.; Cassabois, G.; Roussignol, P.; Delalande, C.; Filoramo, A.; Capes, L.; Valentin, E.; Jost, O. *Physica E* 2004, 21, 1057.
- [67] Lefebvre, J.; Fraser, J. M.; Homma, Y.; Finnie, P. Appl Phys A 2004, 78, 1107.

- [68] Pham-Huu, C.; Keller, N.; Roddatis, V. V.; Mestl, G.; Schlogl, R.; Ledoux, M. J. Physical Chemistry Chemical Physics 2002, 4, 514.
- [69] Kuhlmann, U.; Jantoljak, H.; Pfänder, N.; Bernier, P.; Journet, C.; Thomsen, C. Chemical Physics Letters 1998, 294, 237.
- [70] Harris, P. J. F. Carbon Nanotube Science: synthesis, properties and applications; Cambridge University Press: Cambridge, UK, 2009.
- [71] Dresselhaus, M. S.; Dresselhaus, G.; Avouris, P. *Carbon nanotubes: synthesis, structure, properties, and applications*; Springer: Berlin; New York, 2001.
- [72] Baddour, C. E.; Briens, C. Int. J. Chem. React. Eng. 2005, 3, 404.
- [73] Prasek, J.; Drbohlavova, J.; Chomoucka, J.; Hubalek, J.; Jasek, O.; Adam, V.; Kizek, R. J. Mater. Chem. 2011, 21 (40), 15872.
- [74] See, C. H.; Harris, A. T. Ind. Eng. Chem. Res. 2007, 46, 997.
- [75] Eklund, P. C.; Pradhan, B. K.; Kim, U. J.; Xiong, Q.; Fischer, J. E.; Friedman, A. D.; Holloway,
  B. C.; Jordan, K.; Smith, M. W. *Nano Lett.* **2002**, *2*, 561.
- Bolshakov, A. P.; Uglov, S. A.; Saveliev, A. V.; Konov, V. I.; Gorbunov, A. A.; Pompe, W.; Graff, A. Diamond and Related Materials 2002, 11, 927.
- Thess, A.; Lee, R.; Nikolaev, P.; Dai, H.; Petit, P.; Robert, J.; Xu, C.; Lee, Y. H.; Kim, S. G.;
  Rinzler, A. G.; Colbert, D. T.; Scuseria, G. E.; Tománek, D.; Fischer, J. E.; Smalley, R. E. Science 1996, 273, 483.
- [78] Muñoz, E.; Maser, W. K.; Benito, A. M.; Martiìnez, M. T.; de la Fuente, G. F.; Maniette, Y.; Righi, A.; Anglaret, E.; Sauvajol, J. L. *Carbon* 2000, *38*, 1445.
- [79] Scott, L. T.; Jackson, E. A.; Zhang, Q.; Steinberg, B. D.; Bancu, M.; Li, B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2012, 134, 107.
- [80] Gamaly, E. G.; Ebbesen, T. W. Phys. Rev. B 1995, 52, 2083.
- [81] Journet, C.; Maser, W. K.; Bernier, P.; Loiseau, A.; de la Chapelle, M. L.; Lefrant, S.; Deniard, P.; Lee, R.; Fischer, J. E. Nature 1997, 388, 756.
- [82] Popov, V. N. Mat. Sci. Eng.: R. 2004, 43, 61.
- [83] Hsu, W. K.; Terrones, M.; Hare, J. P.; Terrones, H.; Kroto, H. W.; Walton, D. R. M. Chemical Physics Letters 1996, 262, 161.
- [84] Li, Y.-L.; Kinloch, I. A.; Windle, A. H. Science 2004, 304, 276.
- [85] Charlier, J.-C.; Iijima, S. In *Carbon Nanotubes*; Dresselhaus, M. S., Dresselhaus, G., Avouris, P., Eds.; Springer: Berlin, Heidelberg, 2001, p 55.
- [86] Dai, H.; Rinzler, A. G.; Nikolaev, P.; Thess, A.; Colbert, D. T.; Smalley, R. E. *Chemical Physics Letters* **1996**, *260*, 471.
- [87] Dupuis, A.-C. *Progress in Materials Science* **2005**, *50*, 929.
- [88] Constantopoulos, K. T.; Shearer, C. J.; Ellis, A. V.; Voelcker, N. H.; Shapter, J. G. Adv. Mat. 2010, 22, 557.
- [89] Fan, S.; Liang, W.; Dang, H.; Franklin, N.; Tombler, T.; Chapline, M.; Dai, H. Physica E 2000, 8, 179.
- [90] Donaldson, K.; Aitken, R.; Tran, L.; Stone, V.; Duffin, R.; Forrest, G.; Alexander, A. Toxicol. Sci. 2006, 92, 5.
- [91] Park, T.-J.; Banerjee, S.; Hemraj-Benny, T.; Wong, S. S. J. Mater. Chem. 2006, 16, 141.
- [92] Salzmann, C. G.; Llewellyn, S. A.; Tobias, G.; Ward, M. A. H.; Huh, Y.; Green, M. L. H. Adv. Mat. 2007, 19, 883.
- [93] Andrews, R.; Jacques, D.; Qian, D.; Dickey, E. C. *Carbon* **2001**, *39*, 1681.
- [94] Chattopadhyay, D.; Galeska, I.; Papadimitrakopoulos, F. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2003, 125, 3370.
- [95] Tanaka, T.; Jin, H.; Miyata, Y.; Fujii, S.; Suga, H.; Naitoh, Y.; Minari, T.; Miyadera, T.; Tsukagoshi, K.; Kataura, H. Nano Lett. 2009, 9, 1497.

- [96] Strano, M. S.; Dyke, C. A.; Usrey, M. L.; Barone, P. W.; Allen, M. J.; Shan, H.; Kittrell, C.; Hauge, R. H.; Tour, J. M.; Smalley, R. E. Science 2003, 301, 1519.
- [97] Arnold, M. S.; Stupp, S. I.; Hersam, M. C. Nano Lett. 2005, 5, 713.
- [98] Zheng, M.; Jagota, A.; Strano, M. S.; Santos, A. P.; Barone, P.; Chou, S. G.; Diner, B. A.; Dresselhaus, M. S.; McLean, R. S.; Onoa, G. B.; Samsonidze, G. G.; Semke, E. D.; Usrey, M.; Walls, D. J. Science 2003, 302, 1545.
- [99] Feng, Q.-P.; Xie, X.-M.; Liu, Y.-T.; Gao, Y.-F.; Wang, X.-H.; Ye, X.-Y. Carbon 2007, 45, 2311.
- [100] Arnold, M. S.; Green, A. A.; Hulvat, J. F.; Stupp, S. I.; Hersam, M. C. Nat Nano 2006, 1, 60.
- [101] Krupke, R.; Hennrich, F.; Löhneysen, H. v.; Kappes, M. M. Science 2003, 301, 344.
- [102] Krupke, R.; Hennrich, F. Adv. Eng. Mat. 2005, 7, 111.
- [103] Hirsch, A. Angewandte Chemie International Edition 2002, 41, 1853.
- [104] Liu, J.; Rinzler, A. G.; Dai, H.; Hafner, J. H.; Bradley, R. K.; Boul, P. J.; Lu, A.; Iverson, T.; Shelimov, K.; Huffman, C. B.; Rodriguez-Macias, F.; Shon, Y.-S.; Lee, T. R.; Colbert, D. T.; Smalley, R. E. *Science* **1998**, *280*, 1253.
- [105] Rinzler, A. G.; Liu, J.; Dai, H.; Nikolaev, P.; Huffman, C. B.; Rodríguez-Macías, F. J.; Boul,
  P. J.; Lu, A. H.; Heymann, D.; Colbert, D. T.; Lee, R. S.; Fischer, J. E.; Rao, A. M.; Eklund, P. C.;
  Smalley, R. E. *Appl Phys A* **1998**, *67*, 29.
- [106] Hamon, M. A.; Hu, H.; Bhowmik, P.; Niyogi, S.; Zhao, B.; Itkis, M. E.; Haddon, R. C. Chemical Physics Letters 2001, 347, 8.
- [107] Peng, H.; Alemany, L. B.; Margrave, J. L.; Khabashesku, V. N. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2003, 125, 15174.
- [108] Bahr, J. L.; Yang, J.; Kosynkin, D. V.; Bronikowski, M. J.; Smalley, R. E.; Tour, J. M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2001, 123, 6536.
- [109] Georgakilas, V.; Kordatos, K.; Prato, M.; Guldi, D. M.; Holzinger, M.; Hirsch, A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2002, 124, 760.
- [110] Holzinger, M.; Vostrowsky, O.; Hirsch, A.; Hennrich, F.; Kappes, M.; Weiss, R.; Jellen, F. Angewandte Chemie International Edition 2001, 40, 4002.
- [111] Ying, Y.; Saini, R. K.; Liang, F.; Sadana, A. K.; Billups, W. E. Organic Letters 2003, 5, 1471.
- [112] Mickelson, E. T.; Huffman, C. B.; Rinzler, A. G.; Smalley, R. E.; Hauge, R. H.; Margrave, J. L. Chemical Physics Letters 1998, 296, 188.
- [113] Saini, R. K.; Chiang, I. W.; Peng, H.; Smalley, R. E.; Billups, W. E.; Hauge, R. H.; Margrave, J. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2003, 125, 3617.
- [114] Khabashesku, V. N.; Billups, W. E.; Margrave, J. L. Accounts of Chemical Research 2002, 35, 1087.
- [115] Stevens, J. L.; Huang, A. Y.; Peng, H.; Chiang, I. W.; Khabashesku, V. N.; Margrave, J. L. Nano Lett. 2003, 3, 331.
- [116] Vaisman, L.; Wagner, H. D.; Marom, G. Advances in Colloid and Interface Science 2006, 128– 130, 37.
- [117] Moore, V. C.; Strano, M. S.; Haroz, E. H.; Hauge, R. H.; Smalley, R. E.; Schmidt, J.; Talmon, Y. Nano Lett. 2003, 3, 1379.
- [118] Eder, D.; Windle, A. H. Adv. Mat. 2008, 20, 1787.
- [119] Cooke, D. J.; Eder, D.; Elliott, J. A. The Journal of Physical Chemistry C 2010, 114, 2462.
- [120] Yan, Y.; Chan-Park, M. B.; Zhang, Q. Small 2007, 3, 24.
- [121] Chattopadhyay, D.; Galeska, I.; Papadimitrakopoulos, F. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2001, 123, 9451.
- [122] Wu, Z.; Chen, Z.; Du, X.; Logan, J. M.; Sippel, J.; Nikolou, M.; Kamaras, K.; Reynolds, J. R.; Tanner, D. B.; Hebard, A. F.; Rinzler, A. G. *Science* **2004**, *305*, 1273.
- [123] Prasad, D.; Zhiling, L.; Satish, N.; Barrera, E. V. Nanotechnology 2004, 15, 379.
- [124] Koziol, K.; Vilatela, J.; Moisala, A.; Motta, M.; Cunniff, P.; Sennett, M.; Windle, A. Science 2007, 318, 1892.

- [125] Davis, V. A.; Ericson, L. M.; Parra-Vasquez, A. N. G.; Fan, H.; Wang, Y.; Prieto, V.; Longoria, J. A.; Ramesh, S.; Saini, R. K.; Kittrell, C.; Billups, W. E.; Adams, W. W.; Hauge, R. H.; Smalley, R. E.; Pasquali, M. *Macromolecules* 2003, *37*, 154.
- [126] Gommans, H. H.; Alldredge, J. W.; Tashiro, H.; Park, J.; Magnuson, J.; Rinzler, A. G. J. Appl. Phys. 2000, 88, 2509.
- [127] Grätzel, M. Journal of Photochemistry and Photobiology C: Photochemistry Reviews 2003, 4, 145.

Keith Paton

## 2 Synthesis, characterisation and properties of graphene

## 2.1 Introduction

As a result of its ultra-thin, two-dimensional structure, coupled with its remarkable combination of physical properties, graphene has become one of the most studied nanomaterials of recent times. Combining high mechanical strength and stiffness [1] with electrical conductivity surpassing that of copper, as well as low optical absorption [2] has led to a wide range of possible applications for graphene. These include polymer composite reinforcement [3–6], solar cells [7, 8], transparent conducting films [9, 10], membranes [11, 12] and batteries [13] amongst many others.

#### 2.2 Properties

Graphene has been ascribed a wide range of superlative properties, such as the thinnest, lightest, strongest material known to man. Being only one atomic layer thick, the claim for the thinnest material is perhaps obvious, and this also contributes to its high level of optical transparency. Single-layer graphene absorbs 2.3% of the incident light, a value that can be defined by fundamental constants,  $\pi a \approx 2.3$ % and is almost invariant across the visible range [14]. The electrical properties have been extensively probed [15] with electron mobility of up to 230,000 cm<sup>2</sup> ·  $V^{-1} \cdot s^{-1}$  at a carrier density of 2 × 10<sup>11</sup> cm<sup>-3</sup> for suspended and annealed samples [16]. For samples on a substrate, the mobility is typically an order of magnitude lower due to scattering from the substrate phonons [17]. It should be noted however that these values were obtained at low temperature (5 K) with the highest room temperature mobility having been measured using high- $\kappa$  dielectric solvents, as ~ 7 × 10<sup>4</sup> cm<sup>2</sup> ·  $V^{-1} \cdot s^{-1}$  [18].

The combination of low optical absorbance and high electrical conductivity has attracted a lot of interest for transparent conductor applications. When coupled with its flexibility, it is widely seen as a possible replacement for indium-doped tin oxide (ITO), which has a sheet resistance of ~  $100 \Omega/cm$  at 90% transparency. By growing graphene on copper foils, sheet resistances of ~  $125 \Omega/cm$  at 97.4% transparency have been achieved [19]. This has been improved by combining four layers with doping of the graphene, giving resistance of ~  $30 \Omega/cm$  at 90% transparency, all done on 30-inch roll-to-roll production scale.

Indentation testing of suspended graphene flakes has yielded a stiffness of ~ 1 TPa for pristine, monolayer graphene, with a strength of ~ 130 GPa and strain to break of ~ 25 % [1]. This gives a stiffness to strength ratio of ~ 8, close to the value of 9 predicted by Griffith [20]. These values are in close agreement with those of bulk graphite

(in-plane) and carbon nanotubes. As for carbon nanotubes, graphene has been incorporated into polymer matrices to provide an enhancement in mechanical properties [21]. For example, incorporating graphene into a polyurethane matrix allowed the properties of the resulting composite to be tuned between thermoplastic-like behavior (low stiffness, low strength, high strain to break) and thermoset-like behavior (high stiffness, high strength but low strain to break) [22]. Indeed, by careful control of the graphene loading, a composite with high stiffness, high strength as well as high strain to break could be produced.

The thermal conductivity of suspended graphene has been calculated by measuring the frequency shift of the G-band in the Raman spectrum with varying laser power. These measurements yielded a value for thermal conductivity of 4840–5300 W  $\cdot$  m<sup>-1</sup>  $\cdot$  K<sup>-1</sup> [23], better than that of SWCNTs, with the exception of crystalline ropes of nanotubes, which gave values up to 5800 W  $\cdot$  m<sup>-1</sup>  $\cdot$  K<sup>-1</sup> [24]. Even when deposited on a substrate, the measured thermal conductivity is ~ 600 W  $\cdot$  m<sup>-1</sup>  $\cdot$  K<sup>-1</sup> [25], higher than in commonly used heat dissipation materials such as copper and silver.

## 2.3 Synthesis

#### 2.3.1 Micromechanical cleavage

Micromechanical cleavage (Fig. 2.1(a)) is a technique that has been used by crystallographers for many years to obtain samples of well-defined crystal faces. In 1999 it was suggested that this method could be used to obtain few, or even single atomic layers of graphite, *i.e.* graphene [26]. In 2005, Geim *et al.* published results showing successful micromechanical cleavage of single layer graphene [27]. This technique involves using sticky-tape to repeatedly peel layers of the crystal from the bulk, eventually reaching single atomic layer thicknesses. As well as graphene, the authors demonstrated exfoliation of several layered materials including MoS<sub>2</sub>, NbSe<sub>2</sub> and BN. The identification of monolayers of these materials was enabled by optical microscopy when deposited on a suitable substrate.

This method is capable of producing large flakes, of high quality, offering the highest mobilities of any production method [28–30], with room temperature values of up to  $20\,000 \text{ cm}^2 \cdot \text{V}^{-1} \cdot \text{s}^{-1}$  reported [29]. Due to its low throughput it is not a feasible option for large-scale production, but it remains a widely used method for producing good quality graphene for research applications.



Fig. 2.1: "Top-down" synthesis methods. (a) Micromechanical cleavage; (b) ion intercalation; (c) graphite oxide; (d) liquid-phase exfoliation.

#### 2.3.2 Liquid phase exfoliation

In contrast, exfoliation of graphene in liquid environments offers a route to large-scale production, from simple starting materials. There are various approaches that have been developed to enable effective exfoliation of graphene in liquids.

#### 2.3.2.1 Intercalation

While the interlayer van der Waals bonding is weak in comparison to the in-plane bonds, it nonetheless presents a barrier to exfoliation of graphene from the crystal. One approach to overcoming this barrier is to first weaken these bonds by intercalation (Fig. 2.1(b)). The resulting graphite intercalation compounds (GIC) have a long history [31, 32], and have been studied and used for their own properties (including high conductivity, superconductivity and energy storage) rather than as a route to two-dimensional materials. This approach forces small molecules or ions in-between the layers of carbon atoms in pristine graphite, increasing the interlayer spacing and weakening the van der Waals forces between them. A wide range of compounds have been used as intercalants, including metal fluorides, metal chlorides and alkali metals. The degree of intercalation is described by a "stage" number, indicating the number of carbon layers between intercalation layers, *i.e.* stage 1 compounds have intercalant between every carbon layer, stage 2 compounds have intercalates between every second carbon layer. The introduction of these intercalating compounds increases the interlayer spacing by as much as three times [33], and so they offer a good starting point for graphene production [33–36]. With the layer spacing thus increased, and the bonding correspondingly weakened, it is then relatively easy to separate the layers. While this is often described as being spontaneous, in all cases, at least some level of mechanical agitation or mixing is applied [34, 37, 38].

While GICs allow high yield production of graphene [34-36], they have the drawback of often requiring controlled atmospheres for their preparation and storage, as they tend to oxidize in air [32-36], although graphene intercalated with FeCl<sub>3</sub> has been reported to be stable in air for up to one year [39]. This lack of stability, coupled with the additional processing steps involved in their preparation has limited the use of this approach to date as a graphene production method.

#### 2.3.2.2 Graphite oxide

An alternative approach to weakening the interlayer bonding in graphite is to first oxidize the graphite, which was first investigated by Brodie in 1859 [40]. The process involving reaction with potassium chloride ( $\text{KCl}_3$ ) was modified by Staudenmaier to use concentrated sulfuric acid and adding the  $\text{KCl}_3$  stepwise during the process, and TEM images published by Ruess and Vogt in 1948 showed single sheets of graphene oxide. These reactions however yield chlorine dioxide ( $\text{ClO}_2$ ) gas, which can explosively decompose into chlorine and oxygen. A safer and quicker method was developed by Hummers that avoided these explosive by-products, using sulfuric acid, sodium nitrate and potassium permanganate [41].

The oxidation reaction (Fig. 2.1(c)) introduces functional groups to both the basal plane (hydroxyl and epoxide) and flake edges (lactone, phenol and quinone) [42–45]. These groups weaken the van der Waals forces between the layers, as well as making the resulting flakes hydrophilic, allowing them to be dispersed easily in water [42, 46] and simple organic solvents [42, 47]. This exfoliation is achieved through either sonication [42, 48], stirring [49] or thermal expansion [50]. While this approach can yield large flakes [51], the functional groups strongly affect the properties of the graphene, in particular the electrical conductivity [10, 52]. The graphene oxide can be chemically [45, 46, 53–55] or thermally [10, 50, 56] reduced, in order to remove the functional groups, and a range of chemistries has been developed to achieve this. The use of alkali solutions has been used since the 1960s [45], and hydrazine [53], hydrides [47, 55], hydroquinone [55] and p-phenylene [54] have all been used. A mechanism involving UV-assisted photocatalysis has also been demonstrated, wherein GO is reduced as it accepts electrons from irradiated TiO<sub>2</sub> nanoparticles [57]. The reduction has also be shown to be possible using a camera flash [58], and focused sunlight [59]. However, none of these methods is able to completely return GO to pristine graphene.

Although the electrical properties of GO are significantly inferior to pristine graphene, the presence of the functional groups on the flakes can be a considerable advantage when considering composites [6].

#### 2.3.2.3 Pristine graphite

Although the weakening of the intersheet bonding though graphite intercalation or graphite oxide allows easier subsequent exfoliation, it is not necessary. Graphene has been successfully exfoliated from pristine graphite without any prior pre-treatments through ultrasonication in solvents [60–63] and aqueous solutions [63–67] (Fig. 2.1(d)). Exfoliation occurs due to hydrodynamic forces associated with cavitation (formation and collapse of bubbles in liquids) during the sonication process [68–70]. These cavitation events can create local temperatures of 5000 K and pressures of several hundred atmospheres, sufficient to overcome the intersheet bonds.

Graphene is most effectively dispersed in solvents in which the interfacial energy between the graphene and the liquid is minimized [71]. If the difference in surface energies is too high (or too low), the graphene flakes will re-aggregate and sediment out of the dispersion. By measuring the concentration of graphene dispersed in a wide range of solvents with varying surface energies, it was found that those with surface energy of ~ 70 mJ/m<sup>2</sup> are most effective [72, 73]. This is in close agreement with contact angle measurements for the surface energy of graphite (~ 62 mJ/m<sup>2</sup>). Many solvents with surface energy close to this value (*e.g.* NMP, DMF, GBL, CHP) have drawbacks with regards to toxicity [74, 75], and all have high boiling points (> 150 °C), making removal of solvent difficult. Exfoliation in low boiling point solvents, which also lack the issues of toxicity, has been demonstrated [76], although the concentrations achieved are lower than in surface energy matched solvents.

Stabilization in water (surface tension ~ 72 mN/m) can be achieved through the use of surfactants [77] such as SDBS [78] or sodium cholate [79], or long chain polymers such as polyvinyl alcohol. While this allows a non-toxic and easily removed solvent to be used, the presence of the surfactant or polymer molecules can be detrimental to the subsequent applications [80].

The yield of these sonication approaches is low (~ 1 wt% graphene) and the unexfoliated graphite material needs to be separated from the graphene dispersion. Typically this is achieved through centrifugation, which allows a selection of flake sizes by controlling the applied centrifugal force [81]. Furthermore, by recycling the sediment back through the process with fresh solvent, the overall yield can be increased. The use of density gradient centrifugation can also be used to isolate monolayers of graphene [79, 82], where the density of the flake is modified by the surfactant coating, allowing separation. Rate-zonal separation has also been used to produced graphene dispersions with a narrow range of lateral flake sizes [83].

#### 2.3.3 Precipitation from metals/CVD

As well as the "top-down" methods described above, it is also possible to produce graphene with "bottom-up" approaches (Fig. 2.2). Growth of graphite on transition metal surfaces was first described in the 1940s [84], with details of the mechanism described in the 1970s [85]. This synthetic graphite is formed by precipitation of carbon from Co, Ni or Pt annealed at high temperature, with single layer graphene formed as islands on the surface (Fig. 2.2(a)). A similar mechanism leads to the formation of "Kish" graphite from molten iron during steelmaking as the supersaturated iron cools [86, 87]. The solubility of carbon in most metals is only a few wt% and the best graphite growth is obtained from metals that do not form carbides, such as Ni, Cu, Pt and Au [48, 88]. Metals such as Ti, Hf and Zr are not suitable as they form stable carbides [89, 90], as well as having a large lattice mismatch with graphite.

Various techniques have been used to deposit the carbon onto the metal surface, including physical vapor deposition, chemical vapor deposition and flash evaporation. When using a pure carbon source, PVD or flash evaporation is used to deposit the carbon on the surface. The substrate is then heated to allow the carbon to diffuse into the metal as a solid solution. Upon cooling this carbon precipitates out as graphitic layers. The thickness of the graphite film obtained is controlled by the carbon solubility, metal thickness and cooling rate [91]. Careful control of these parameters allows single layer graphene to be grown over large areas [92].



Fig. 2.2: "Bottom-up" synthesis methods. (a) Catalytic vapor deposition; (b) epitaxial growth from SiC.

Chemical vapor deposition is widely used for growing thin films, and has been successfully used to grow graphene, most notably on copper [92]. While it was initially thought that growth on copper was self-limiting to monolayer graphene [88], recent work has shown this not to be the case [93]. Indeed the parameter space for successful growth of good quality graphene on Cu is somewhat small, as a result of low catalytic activity of Cu and relatively low sublimation temperatures. An alternative material is nickel, which has a better catalytic activity, allowing lower growth temperatures, as well as theoretically ideal lattice matching on the {111} crystal faces [94]. For both metals, the growth is controlled by a balance between the flux of carbon onto the surface of the catalyst and the diffusion into the bulk [95]. Growth of graphene layers only occurs on the catalyst surface, and so the second layer grows underneath the initial monolayer, and is proposed to only occur after complete coverage of the monolayer. By control of this carbon flux balance, the carbon concentration in the bulk of the catalyst can be limited, giving very little precipitation upon cooling [95].

Due to the growth mechanism, the resulting graphene film is polycrystalline, with the domain sizes governed by the nucleation rate of the initial islands. This is turn can be controlled by the temperature and pressure in the reaction chamber, with single crystal domains of up to 0.5mm observed. The use of bi-metallic catalyst films has also been demonstrated to reduce the nucleation density of graphene, giving larger final domain sizes [96].

One drawback of both the previous techniques is that most applications most suited to graphene produced in these methods require it to be on an insulating substrate. CVD has been attempted on various insulating substrates, including sapphire [97], quartz,  $ZrO_2$  [98], MgO [99] and  $Si_3N_4$  [100] with some limited success, but much more work is required in this area. Graphene has also been deposited on quartz by spray pyrolysis of sodium ethoxide [101] although characterization of this material has shown it to be highly defective in nature.

#### 2.3.4 Epitaxial growth from SiC

One solution to the problem of an insulating substrate is epitaxial growth from SiC, which goes back to 1896, when graphite was produced for lubrication applications [102]. Silicon is thermally desorbed from the surface of a SiC crystal, and the resulting carbon layer undergoes a surface reconstruction to form graphene [103, 104] (Fig. 2.2(b)). Initially this graphene layer is covalently bonded to the SiC underneath, but can be detached by hydrogen intercalation [105–107]. Furthermore, the process is not self-limiting [104], and further graphene layers will be formed beneath this initial one, with the bottom layer always bonded to the underlying SiC.

Control of the annealing atmosphere [108–110] and choice of SiC face from which Si is desorbed [110, 111] offer some control over the domain sizes. For example, graphene growth is much faster on the C-face than on the Si-face [110, 111], while annealing at near atmospheric pressures yields domains almost 1000 times larger than under UHV [105, 109].

A major drawback to this method is the cost of SiC wafers, which are upwards of 15 times the price of Si wafers. Graphene has been grown from a thin SiC layer deposited on sapphire, but the properties were markedly inferior compared to graphene produced from bulk SiC [112].

#### 2.4 Characterization

The characterization of graphene often involves several techniques in conjunction in order to build up a complete picture of the material. The techniques typically include electron microscopy, Raman spectroscopy, X-ray photo-emission spectroscopy (XPS), Fourier-transform infrared spectroscopy (FTIR) and thermal-gravimetric analysis (TGA).

Electron microscopy can most obviously provide information on the lateral dimensions of the graphene produced. Transmission electron microscopy can also be used to measure the number of atomic layers in a graphene sample. One of the most straightforward methods to assess this is by simply counting the edges visible in transmission electron micrographs. While this is often used, it has a limitation of missing any overlapping edges, and as a result tends to underestimate the number of layers. A more reliable method to confirm monolayer graphene is electron diffraction, comparing the relative intensity between the  $\{\bar{2}110\} - \{10\bar{1}0\}$  diffraction spots [113, 114] (Fig. 2.3). For monolayer graphene, the inner,  $\{10\overline{1}0\}$  spots have a higher intensity, whereas for bi-layer or more the outer,  $\{\overline{2}110\}$  spots have a higher intensity. The effect is more clearly seen if the diffraction pattern is recorded as a function of tilt angle. This approach however can only be used to distinguish between monolayer and multilayer. A more quantitative approach is to use electron energy loss spectroscopy (EELS) to determine the number of layers. The thickness of the graphene layer can be shown to be given by  $t = \lambda \ln(I_1/I_0)$  where  $\lambda$  is the mean free path for energy loss,  $I_0$  is the intensity of the filtered image (using the zero-loss peak) and  $I_l$  is the total intensity of the (unfiltered) image [115]. By measuring the spectrum from a folded flake, where the number of layers can be confirmed by electron diffraction, a value of  $\lambda$  can be obtained, allowing the number of layers to be determined. It has also been shown that high resolution imaging using an annular dark-field detector in scanning-TEM allows not only structure information such as grain boundaries [116] but also identification of the nature of substitutional defects [117].

While electron microscopy is an invaluable tool for characterization of graphene, it is a costly and often time-consuming technique. In contrast, Raman spectroscopy is a quick and easy method to obtain a wide range of properties of graphene, including flake size, layer number, defect density, and doping levels amongst others [118].



**Fig. 2.3:** Evidence of monolayer graphene from TEM [72]. (a) and (b) High-resolution TEM images of solution-cast monolayer (a) and bilayer (b) graphene (scale bar 500 nm); (c) electron diffraction pattern of the sheet in (a), with the peaks labeled by Miller-Bravais indices; (d) and (e) electron diffraction patterns taken from the positions of the black (d) and white spots (e), respectively, of the sheet shown in (b), using the same labels as in (c). The graphene is clearly one layer thick in (d) and two layers thick in (e); (f)–(h) Diffracted intensity taken along the  $1\bar{2}10$  to  $\bar{2}110$  axis for the patterns shown in (c)–(e), respectively; (i) Histogram of the ratios of the intensity of the 1100 and 2110 diffraction peaks for all the diffraction patterns collected. A ratio > 1 is a signature of graphene.

A typical Raman spectrum for graphene consists of three main peaks of interest, the D-peak at ~ 1350  $\text{cm}^{-1}$ , the G-peak at ~ 1580  $\text{cm}^{-1}$  and the 2D peak (sometimes called G') at ~ 2700 cm<sup>-1</sup> [119, 120] (Fig. 2.4). While the G-peak, the result of in-plane phonon mode, is present in all graphitic carbon materials, the D-peak, an in-plane "breathing mode" of the 6-membered rings, only becomes Raman active in the presence of defects. The ratio of these two peaks is commonly used as a measure of the defect density of graphite materials, as it is for carbon nanotubes. However, it should be noted that as well as vacancies and sp<sup>3</sup>-type defects, the D-peak is also seen at the edges of graphene sheets [121]. As the intensity of the G-band is proportional to the area sampled  $(I(G) \propto L_a^2)$  whereas the intensity of the D-band is proportional to the total length of the edge ( $I(D) \propto L_a$ ), the ratio  $I(D)/I(G) \propto 1/L_a$ , gives an estimate of the flake size or domain size [122, 123]. Therefore, as the size of graphene flakes decreases, the D/G intensity ratio will increase even in the absence of basal plane defects [124]. While this holds for samples with low basal plane defects, it needs to be adjusted for samples with higher point defect densities. For a sample with an average defect separation of  $L_D$  probed by a laser with spot size  $L_L$ , there will be, on average,  $(L_L/L_D)^2$ defects probed, and so  $I(D) \propto (L_L/L_D)^2$ . The G-band intensity will be proportional to the area probed  $(I(G) \propto L_L^2)$  and so  $I(D)/I(G) \propto 1/L_D^2$  [120]. Due to the origin of the D-band, this picture fails at very high defect density, as the material tends towards amorphous carbon, at which point the D-band intensity begins to fall with increasing defect density [125].

#### 34 — Part I: A short introduction on carbon nanotubes

The number of layers, in contrast, can be obtained by examination of the shape of the 2D (also known as the G') peak, which is a second order process of the D-peak, and is always Raman active. While for single layer graphene, this comprises a single peak, with intensity up to 4 times the intensity of the G-peak, 2-layer graphene is fitted by 4 peaks (due to splitting of the electronic band structure [119]). In a similar way, the peak shape varies with increasing layer number until by 5 layers it is almost indistinguishable from that of bulk graphite, with two peaks with intensity ~ 1/4 and 1/2 of the G-peak.



Fig. 2.4: Typical Raman spectra of: (a) graphite, with peaks labeled as discussed in the text; (b) graphene (liquid-phase exfoliated). Inset: Evolution of 2D-band with increasing layer numbers [120].

Further characterization of graphene routinely uses AFM to obtain both the number of layers and lateral sizes of flakes [126]. The presence of residual surfactant on the surface of the flakes needs to be taken into account in order to obtain an accurate measure of layer number [127]. X-ray photo-emission spectroscopy (XPS) is also widely used to characterize any functional groups and defects [128–130], as well as to indicate the presence of residual solvent molecules [129]. Standard chemical analysis techniques are also widely used to identify the nature of any functional groups, as well as the degree of functionalization. Elemental analysis provides a quantitative measure of the C/O/N ratio in the material, though this needs to be combined with a Karl–Fischer titration, due to the hygroscopic nature of functionalized graphene [131]. Fourier-transform infrared (FTIR) spectroscopy is also widely used to characterize the nature of the functional groups [58, 132].

## **Bibliography**

- C. Lee, X. Wei, J.W. Kysar, J. Hone, Measurement of the elastic properties and intrinsic strength of monolayer graphene, Science, 321 (2008) 385–388.
- [2] R.R. Nair, P. Blake, A.N. Grigorenko, K.S. Novoselov, T.J. Booth, T. Stauber, et al., Fine structure constant defines visual transparency of graphene, Science, 320 (2008) 1308.
- [3] D. Cai, M. Song, A simple route to enhance the interface between graphite oxide nanoplatelets and a semi-crystalline polymer for stress transfer, Nanotechnology, 20 (2009) 315708.
- [4] H. Kim, C.W. Macosko, Processing-property relationships of polycarbonate/graphene composites, Polymer, 50 (2009) 3797–3809.
- [5] J. Liang, Y. Huang, L. Zhang, Y. Wang, Y. Ma, T. Guo, et al., Molecular-level dispersion of graphene into poly(vinyl alcohol) and effective reinforcement of their nanocomposites, Advanced Functional Materials, 19 (2009) 2297–2302.
- [6] S. Stankovich, D.A. Dikin, G.H.B. Dommett, K.M. Kohlhaas, E.J. Zimney, E.A. Stach, et al., Graphene-based composite materials, Nature, 442 (2006) 282–286.
- [7] X. Wang, L. Zhi, K. Müllen, Transparent, conductive graphene electrodes for dye-sensitized solar cells, Nano Letters, 8 (2008) 323–327.
- [8] X. Wang, L. Zhi, N. Tsao, Z. Tomović, J. Li, K. Müllen, Transparent carbon films as electrodes in organic solar cells, Angewandte Chemie (International Ed. in English), 47 (2008) 2990–2992.
- [9] G. Eda, G. Fanchini, M. Chhowalla, Large-area ultrathin films of reduced graphene oxide as a transparent and flexible electronic material, Nature Nanotechnology, 3 (2008) 270–274.
- [10] C. Mattevi, G. Eda, S. Agnoli, S. Miller, K.A. Mkhoyan, O. Celik, et al., Evolution of electrical, chemical, and structural properties of transparent and conducting chemically derived graphene thin films, Advanced Functional Materials, 19 (2009) 2577–2583.
- [11] K. Chung, C.-H. Lee, G.-C. Yi, Transferable GaN layers grown on ZnO-coated graphene layers for optoelectronic devices, Science (New York, N.Y.) 330 (2010) 655–657.
- [12] T.J. Booth, P. Blake, R.R. Nair, D. Jiang, E.W. Hill, U. Bangert, et al., Macroscopic graphene membranes and their extraordinary stiffness, Nano Letters, 8 (2008) 2442–2446.
- [13] M. Pumera, Electrochemistry of graphene: New horizons for sensing and energy storage, Chemical Record, 9 (2009) 211–223.
- [14] R.R. Nair, P. Blake, A.N. Grigorenko, K.S. Novoselov, T.J. Booth, T. Stauber, et al., Fine structure constant defines visual transparency of graphene, Science, 320 (2008) 1308.
- [15] A.K. Geim, K.S. Novoselov, The rise of graphene, Nature Materials, 6 (2007) 183–191.
- [16] K.I. Bolotin, K.J. Sikes, Z. Jiang, M. Klima, G. Fudenberg, J. Hone, et al., Ultrahigh electron mobility in suspended graphene, Solid State Communications, 146 (2008) 351–355.
- [17] J.-H. Chen, C. Jang, S. Xiao, M. Ishigami, M.S. Fuhrer, Intrinsic and extrinsic performance limits of graphene devices on SiO2, Nature Nanotechnology, 3 (2008) 206–209.
- [18] F. Chen, J. Xia, D.K. Ferry, N. Tao, Dielectric screening enhanced performance in graphene FET, Nano Letters, 9 (2009) 2571–2574.
- [19] S. Bae, H. Kim, Y. Lee, X. Xu, J.-S. Park, Y. Zheng, et al., Roll-to-roll production of 30-inch graphene films for transparent electrodes, Nature Nanotechnology, 5 (2010) 574–578.
- [20] A.A. Griffith, The phenomena of rupture and flow in solids, Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society A: Mathematical, Physical and Engineering Sciences, 221 (1921) 163–198.
- [21] T. Ramanathan, A.A. Abdala, S. Stankovich, D.A. Dikin, M. Herrera-Alonso, R.D. Piner, et al., Functionalized graphene sheets for polymer nanocomposites, Nature Nanotechnology, 3 (2008) 327–331.

- [22] U. Khan, P. May, A. O'Neill, J.N. Coleman, Development of stiff, strong, yet tough composites by the addition of solvent exfoliated graphene to polyurethane, Carbon, 48 (2010) 4035– 4041.
- [23] A.A. Balandin, S. Ghosh, W. Bao, I. Calizo, D. Teweldebrhan, F. Miao, et al., Superior thermal conductivity of single-layer graphene, Nano Letters, 8 (2008) 902–907.
- [24] J. Hone, M. Whitney, C. Piskoti, A. Zettl, Thermal conductivity of single-walled carbon nanotubes, Physical Review B, 59 (1999) R2514–R2516.
- [25] J.H. Seol, I. Jo, A.L. Moore, L. Lindsay, Z.H. Aitken, M.T. Pettes, et al., Two-dimensional phonon transport in supported graphene, Science (New York, N.Y.), 328 (2010) 213–216.
- [26] X. Lu, M. Yu, H. Huang, R.S. Ruoff, Tailoring graphite with the goal of achieving single sheets, Nanotechnology, 10 (1999) 269–272.
- [27] K.S. Novoselov, D. Jiang, F. Schedin, T.J. Booth, V. V Khotkevich, S. V Morozov, et al., Twodimensional atomic crystals, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 102 (2005) 10451–10453.
- [28] A.S. Mayorov, D.C. Elias, I.S. Mukhin, S. V Morozov, L.A. Ponomarenko, K.S. Novoselov, et al., How close can one approach the Dirac point in graphene experimentally?, Nano Letters, 12 (2012) 4629–4634.
- [29] Z.H. Ni, L.A. Ponomarenko, R.R. Nair, R. Yang, S. Anissimova, I. V Grigorieva, et al., On resonant scatterers as a factor limiting carrier mobility in graphene, Nano Letters, 10 (2010) 3868–3872.
- [30] D.C. Elias, R. V. Gorbachev, a. S. Mayorov, S. V. Morozov, A.A. Zhukov, P. Blake, et al., Dirac cones reshaped by interaction effects in suspended graphene, Nature Physics, 7 (2011) 701– 704.
- [31] M. Inagaki, Applications of graphite intercalation compounds, Journal of Materials Research, 4 (1989) 1560–1568.
- [32] M.S. Dresselhaus, G. Dresselhaus, Intercalation compounds of graphite, Advances in Physics, 51 (2002) 1–186.
- [33] A. Lerf, H. He, M. Forster, J. Klinowski, Structure of graphite oxide revisited, Journal of Physical Chemistry B, 5647 (1998) 4477–4482.
- [34] C. Vallés, C. Drummond, H. Saadaoui, C. a Furtado, M. He, O. Roubeau, et al., Solutions of negatively charged graphene sheets and ribbons, Journal of the American Chemical Society, 130 (2008) 15802–15804.
- [35] P.K. Ang, S. Wang, Q. Bao, J.T.L. Thong, K.P. Loh, High-throughput synthesis of graphene by intercalation-exfoliation of graphite oxide and study of ionic screening in graphene transistor, ACS Nano, 3 (2009) 3587–3594.
- [36] A. Catheline, C. Vallés, C. Drummond, L. Ortolani, V. Morandi, M. Marcaccio, et al., Graphene solutions, Chemical Communications (Cambridge, England), 47 (2011) 5470–5472.
- [37] E.M. Milner, N.T. Skipper, C.A. Howard, M.S.P. Shaffer, D.J. Buckley, K.A. Rahnejat, et al., Structure and morphology of charged graphene platelets in solution by small-angle neutron scattering, Journal of the American Chemical Society, 134 (2012) 8302–8305.
- [38] A. Catheline, C. Vallés, C. Drummond, L. Ortolani, V. Morandi, M. Marcaccio, et al., Graphene solutions, Chemical Communications (Cambridge, England), 47 (2011) 5470–5472.
- [39] I. Khrapach, F. Withers, T.H. Bointon, D.K. Polyushkin, W.L. Barnes, S. Russo, et al., Novel highly conductive and transparent graphene-based conductors, Advanced Materials, 24 (2012) 2844–2849.
- [40] M.B.-C. Brodie, Sur le poids atomique du graphite, Annalen Der Chemie und Parmacie, 114 (1860) 466-472.
- [41] J. Hummers, William S, R.E. Offerman, Preparation of graphitic oxide, Journal of the American Chemical Society, 80 (1957) 1339.